MODELLING EXPRESSIVE MOVEMENT OF MUSICIANS

by

Adam Matthew Wood-Gaines B.Sc. (Comp. Sci.) University of Western Ontario 1994

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE in the School

of Computing Science

© Adam Matthew Wood-Gaines 1997 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

February 1997

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without the permission of the author. National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street* Ottawa ON KIA 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques-

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

Janadä

L'auteur a accordé une licence non . exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans són autorisation.

0-612-24274-9

APPROVAL

Name:

Adam Matthew Wood-Gaines

Degree:

Master of Science

Title of Thesis:

. Modelling Expressive Movement of Musicians

Examining Committee: . Dr. Tiko Kameda

Chair

Dr. Tom Calvert Senior Supervisor

Dr. F. David Fracchia Supervisor

Dr. Martin/Gotfrit Examiner

ii

Date Approved:

Abstract

This thesis addresses the problem of modelling expressive movement in human figure animation. The domain of music is ideal for the study of expressive movement since there is often a relationship between the expression of music and the dynamics of a musician's body. The goal of this thesis is to provide control of kinematic expression in the animation of musical scores. Drumming movements in particular are appropriate to model because there is a wide range of movements to convey expression, and their physical quality makes them more readily observable than movements used with instruments such as the clarinet. Such a visualization is directly applicable to music education and score design, while the techniques to affect the expression could be used for other kinds of animated movement.

The proposed system is SMED, a system for modelling expressive drumming. SMED reads any MIDI-encoded drum score and in real-time renders a 3D animation of a drummer's performance of that score. It allows the user to modify the frequency and amplitude of joint rotations in order to affect the perceived expression of movement.

The quality of the generated movement was tested by having subjects interpret the kinematics of a number of performances. The effectiveness of SMED as a high-level tool for specifiying expressive movement was tested by having subjects manipulate the user interface to create drumming animations for several contrasting musical scores. The results of the study found that while there were a number of suggested refinements, subjects were able to recognize and interpret expressive aspects of performances and could manipulate the interface to create expressive performances with ease.

SMED represents an initial example of interactive specification of expressive movement in musical performance, and provides a solid foundation for future work.

Acknowledgments

Foremost, I would like to thank Tom Calvert and David Fracchia for giving me encouragement, support, and the creative freedom to pursue technical research seeded in personal interest and imagination.

I sincerely thank Bob Peele for creating immaculate drum scores, Darry Major for professional insight, Maria Lantin for hours and hours of technical help, Brian Fisher for a glimpse of the finer (and not so fine) aspects of research and statistics, Belinda Hassall for loads of research and organizational help, Leslie Bishko for helping me find the questions to the answers I had, Gordon "Lance" Niguma for making me laugh, Gordon Ross for judicious editing and thoughtful presentation commentary, Bryan Robertson for midnight debates on the kinematics of air drumming, and many other friends, inside and outside of the Graphics and Multimedia Research Lab, for feedback and support.

This research was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Simon Fraser University, and the BC Advanced Systems Institute. "The material of music is sound and bodily movement." -Aristides Quintillianus (c.300AD) [52]

"Where MIDI falls short, and where I can always see it falling short, is in the embellishment and the personality that the animator can give an animation. You're not going to generate that from a program."

-Bob Munroe, technical director of Topix Computer Graphics and Animation Inc., creator of "Lifesavers: Good Times Roll," 1991 [44]

Contents

A	ppŗo	yal ïi	
A	bstra	ct	
A	cknow	wledgments iv	
Li	st of	Tables x	
Li	st of	Figures xi	
1	Intr	oduction 1	
	1.1	Goals 1	
•	1.2	Why Drumming	
2	Lite	rature Review 3	
	2.1	The Human Figure	
	2.2	Methods of Creating Movement	
	-	2.2.1 Keyframe Systems	
		2.2.2 Procedural Animation	
		2.2.3 Motion Capture	
	2.3	Paradigms of Motion Control	
		2.3.1 Kinematics	
-		2.3.2 Dynamics	
		2.3.3 Interpolation	
	2.4	Expression in Animation	
	•	2.4.1 Exaggeration	

vi

		2.4.2 Signal Processing
		2.4.3 Secondary Movements 10
		2.4.4 Repetition
	2.5	Summary
3	Bac	kğround 12
	3.1	Expression in Music
	3.2	Encodings of Music
	3.3.	A Video Review of Drúmming 15
-	- ,	3.3.1 Commonalities \ldots 15
-		3.3.2 Differences
	3.4	Computer Visualization in Music
	3.5	Why music
	3.6	The Challenge of Animating Musical Performance
4	SM	ED: Proposal and Approach 21
	4.1	Features
		4.1.1 Interface
		4.1.2 Scripts
		4.1.3 Automation
-	4.2	Algorithms
		4.2.1 Kinematic Computations
	,	4.2.2 Hand Assignment
	4.3	Design Decisions
		4.3.1 Kinematics vs. Dynamics
		4.3.2 MIDI vs. SMDL and others
		4.3.3 Interpolation
		4.3.4 Drumming Technique
	4.4	Treatment of Expression
		4.4.1 Levels of Interpretation
		4.4.2 Repetition
	\$	4.4.3 Animator Control
	4.5	Applications
	4.6	Summary

vii

 5.1 Subject Profile	53 54 54 57 57 57
5.1.1 Creation of Evaluation Group	54 54 57 57 57
5.1.2 Analysis	54 57 57 57
5.9 Experiment 1: Interpretation	57 57 57
J.Z Experiment 1. Interpretation	57 57
5.2.1 Purpose	57
5.2.2 Environment	
5.2.3 Test Data Set	58
5.2.4 Process	' 58
5.2.5 Analysis	61
5.3 Experiment 2: Expression	65
5.3.1 Purpose	65
5.3.2 Environment	65
5.3.3 Test Data Set	65
5.3.4 Process	66
5.3.5 Analysis	. <u>.</u> . 66 [°]
5.4 An Informal Study	85
5.5 Future Studies	87
5.6 Summary \ldots \ldots \cdot	88
6 Conclusions	89
6.1 Future Work	90
6.2 Enfin	91
A Second Description of Constanting	
A Survey Profile and Questionnaire	. 93
A.2 Experiment 1	
A.3 Experiment 2	95
B Raw Data	97
B.1 Experiment 1	97
B.2 Experiment 2	102

viii

C Mathematical Appendix

Bibliography

110

111

List of Tables

5.1	Styles of tested scores for Experiment 1	58
5.2	Descriptions of kinematic settings for Experiment 1.	. 60
5.3	Styles of tested scores for Experiment 2	66
5.4	Task completion times in minutes for Experiment 2	. 68° y
5.5	Song completion times in minutes for Experiment 2.	. 69
5.6	· Association of tasks to scores for Experiment 2	. 71

х

, 0

List of Figures

2.1	An example of a hierarchically-defined skeleton. The number at each joint	
	indicates the associated number of degrees of freedom	
3.1	Components of a drum kit. (Photo courtesy of UBG Digital Media.) 15	
3,2	How to hold stick for matched grip or for right hand of traditional grip 16	
3.3	How to hold stick for left hand of traditional grip	
4.1	Main window and viewer of SMED	
4.2	Transport control window of SMED	
4.3	Figure options window of SMED. 1	
4.4	The score window of SMED shows a scrolling score during playback. The	
	thick black vertical line in the middle shows the current position in the song. 25	
4.5	Graph window of SMED	
4.6	The segment lengths (in millimeters) of the used skeleton and number of ani-	
	mated degrees of freedom for each joint are shown. The body is symmetrical	
	in the segment lengths and animated degrees of freedom	
4.7	Components of SMED's 3D modelled drum kit and similar real drum kit.	
	(Photo courtesy of of UBG Digital Media.)	
4.8	The depth, radius, height, orientation, wrist radius, and wrist height are	
	defined for each drum in a kit definition file. The orientation of the drum is	
	given by two angles, ϵ and ϕ , which describe the rotation of the drum about	
	the x and y axes, respectively	
4.9	Illustration of limb positionings for calculated keyframes. The preparation	~
	keyframe (p) shows the considered angles of rotation: wrist, α ; elbow, β ;	
,	shoulder, γ	

xi

	,		•
4	1.10	Due to the proximity of strike keyframes s1 and s2, rebound frame r1 and	
		preparation frame p2 are represented by a single keyframe. Continuing to	
8	•	move s1 and s2 together causes attenuation in the rotation. The amount of	. .
		attenuation Δa increases as Δt decreases	31
4	1.11	The drummer attempts to face each drum at the point of stick impact. To	
		play drum 1, the drummer attempts to face it at an angle of λ . Calculations	i Z
	·	shown are precomputed.	32
. 4	1.12	Formula for determining the height of the shoulder. ω changes over time as	•
		the back oscillates to the beat.	33
4	1.13	Illustration showing section score and onsets. Assume that each onset has	
		the same velocity. The head bob for beat 1 will have a lower amplitude than	
		that for beat 2 for two reasons: (a) beat 1 has only one note in its strike	
		range, whereas beat 2 has three, and (b) the intervals before and after beat	
		one are divided by onsets, whereas beat 2 has an interval before it which will -	٠
	ب	result in the maximum value for a density cofactor. Interval w is divided into	
		three subintervals, $w1$, $w2$, and $w3$, by two onsets	34
4	1.14	Formulae for determining the location of the shoulder in the x, y plane.	
-		$(x0,y0)$ represents the coordinates of the base of the neck. λ represents	
		the angle of rotation of the torso, which may or may not be directly facing a	
		drum as shown here.	35
4	1.15	Formulae for determining κ , the angle which the shoulder twists about the z	د. ۲
		axis	35
4	? 16	The distance between the wrist and the centre of the drum projected on the	
		xy plane is given by the wrist radius (r). The line segment connecting the	*
		centre of the drum and the shoulder projected onto the xy plane is represented	
		by s . The x and y wrist coordinates are yielded by the point found a distance	
	,	of r from the centre of the drum along segment s . The z wrist coordinate is	
		given by the wrist height (h) for the associated drum.	36
. 4	1.17	Formulae for determining the remaining elbow and shoulder angles. \ldots	37
4	1.18	Formulae for determining the angle of the wrist.	39
4	1.19	Hand assignment algorithm.	42

xii

4.20 A standard drum pattern is processed by the limb-assignment algorithm. In (a), hard-coded assignments, such as the foot ped ils, are made in the first pass (shown by marking assigned onsets with an F)/In (b), notes within a certain distance in time (circled), are assigned to different limbs if the onsets are on different drums in the second pass (shown by marking assigned onsets with L and R). In (c), remaining notes which can be played by a fixed limb are assigned in the fourth pass.

4.21 Another standard drum pattern is processed by the limb-assignment algorithm. In (a), hard-coded assignments, such as the foot pedals, are made in the first pass. In the second pass (b), notes within a certain distance in time (circled), are assigned to different limbs if the onsets are on different drums. The sixteenth notes at the beginning of the measure are skipped because they are the same drum, and a local onset has not been assigned to provide context. The sixteenth notes after the first snare hit are assigned since the first snare onset provides a starting point for alternating hands. In the third pass (c), notes within a certain distance in time (circled) are assigned, propagating changes backwards through the score.

44

45

51

- 4.22 A drum fill is processed by the limb-assignment algorithm. In the (a) second and (b) third passes, an optimal hand assignment is produced. The fill consists of sixteenth notes from the high tom, to the mid tom, to the floor tom, which are typically situated in the drum kit from left to right. However, a non-optimal assignment may be produced, as in the example illustrated in (c), where the floor tom onsets are replaced by snare onsets. The forward propagation of the hand assignment causes the left hand playing the high tom to be crossed-over by the right hand playing the snare drum. Such crossovers are visually interesting. However, they would not be suitable in an educational setting.
 4.23 This chart shows which kinematic aspects are controlled by the user, and which are automated by SMED.

5.3	Cumulative result of musical style words used in subjects' descriptions of
	performances. Legend: $m = metal$; $r = rock$; $a = alternative$; $j = jazz$; $c =$
•	classical; $b = blues$; $f = funk$; $d = disco$; $p = polka$; $l = latin$; $w = world$ 62
5.4 -	Each cell contains a black bar representing the number of votes attributed to
	the kinematic setting as being the most-appropriate for the score. The grey
•	extension of the bar represents the number of times the kinematic setting was
	voted second best
5.5	The height of each bar represents the amount of time for the subject to
/	complete the task. \ldots \ldots 67
5.6	Rélationship between graphs and UI
5.7	Illustration of a difference of back amplitude of 8. The black figure is at the
	forward limit of a sway for a back amplitude of 10; the grey figure, 2 72
5.8	Illustration of a difference of neck amplitude of 15. The black figure is at the
	bottom limit of a head bob for a neck amplitude of 20; the grey figure, 35. 72
5,9	Illustration of a difference of shoulder amplitude of 5. The dark arm is at the
	height of preparation of a swing for a shoulder amplitude of 5; the light arm,
	10
5.10	Illustration of a difference of elbow amplitude of 5. The dark forearm is at
	the height of preparation of a swing for an elbow amplitude of 5; the light
	forearm, 10
5.11	Illustration of a difference of wrist amplitude of 10. The dark hand is at the
	height of preparation of a swing for a wrist amplitude of 15; the light hand, 5. 74
5.12	Interaction between effective UI settings and score
5.13	Interaction between mean of effective UI settings and score
5.14	Interaction between standard deviations of effective UI settings and score.
	Standard deviations in amplitude as low as 5 can have visually significance. 77
5,15	Effective UI settings grouped by control and subject
5.16	Interaction between mean of effective UI settings and subject
5.17	Interaction between standard deviations of effective UI settings and subject. 80
5.18	Kinematic settings grouped by control and score, illustrating deviation from $\#$
	default setting
5.19	Standard deviations of subjects' raw UI settings

xiv'

5.20	Questionnaire presented to student and professional drummers at Tom Lee
	Music, Vancouver.
5.21	Results of questionnaire. Six student and professional drummers responded '87
B.1	Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by score and control setting
	(Settings 1 to 3)
B.2	Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by score and control setting
	(Settings 4 and 5)
B.3	Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by subject and score (Scores
	1 to 3). •
B.4	Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by subject and score (Scores
	4 and 5)
B. 5	Each cell contains the number of the kinematic setting that the subject felt
	was most appropriate for the score. If a second value is présent, that repre-
	sents the subjects "close" second best vote
₽ B.6	Subjects' reasons for choosing best performance
B.7	Subjects' descriptions of the kinematics of five musical genres, given the name
2	of the genre. Comments are numbered by subject
B 8	III settings for 5 scores for each of 11 subjects.
R Q	Subjects' reasons for using III settings for each animated score
B.10	Responses for Experiment 2 Questions 3 and 4
D.10	Responses for Experiment 2, Question 3b
D.11	Perpension for Experiment 2, Question 4b
D.14	Responses for Experiment 2, Question 40.
B.L.	Responses for Experiment 2, Question 4c
B. 14	Responses for Experiment 2, Question 5
C.1	The used trigonometric laws (for reference). \checkmark \sim

xv

Chapter 1

Introduction

Music is one medium for the expression of emotion and the movements seen in musical performance are part of that expression. The general goal of this work is to realistically model those movements for a given musical score and provide tools to allow users to personalize the kinematic expression. Such musical score visualization can be useful in music education for demonstrating performance techniques and in algorithmic composition for illustrating how a human performer could play a computer-generated score. Also, animators can benefit from the development of intuitive, high-level tools to effect the expression of an animation.

Recent research has given animators a higher level of control in creating animation. For example, an artist can create a "walk" animation by specifying gait parameters [11], as opposed to explicitly specifying joint angles in a traditional keyframe system. Alternatively, motion-captured walking data [35] could be used to drive an articulated figure and transformations could be applied to the captured data to customize the motion [3, 14].

Research has also addressed the modelling of emotion [3, 54], but the example activities have been limited to various gaits and "knocking" movements. The movement of musicians would be an ideal domain to study expressive movement; performance movements are inherently expressive, personalized, and varied.

1.1 Goals

The goals of this thesis are as follows:

1. to model the expressive movements of performing musicians, and

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

2. to create high-level tools to specify the kinematic animation of musical scores.

Within these goals is the secondary goal of learning how to specify the kinematic expression in the animation of musical scores.

While the implementation will be focused on modelling the expressive movement of musicians, it is hoped that insight will be gained into modelling other forms of human gestural expression. Eventually, this could lead to generalized high-level tools that would allow animators to specify and modify the expression and emotional behaviour of arbitrary articulated figures.

4.2 Why Drumming

Initially, the expressive nature of drumming will be studied. Drumming movements are particularly appropriate for this study because there is a wide range of movements to convey expression, and their physical quality makes them more readily observable than movements used with instruments such as the clarinet, for example. Also, it is more manageable to model the interaction of two arms and a seven-piece drum kit than to model the interaction ten fingers and an 88-key piano, for instance.

Another musical visualization program, SPAM [62], modelled hand movement for piano. Research in SPAM showed that modelling finger movement is a non-trivial task. Although finger placement and movement play an important role in stick-handling, they will not be addressed until the complexity of modelling the upper body and limb movements are determined.

Modelling drumming also presents the interesting problem of assigning hands to a sequence of drum hits. It is anticipated that this problem will be easier than the corresponding problem on the piano, that of assigning fingers to a sequence of notes. One could avoid this problem by modelling the performance for a "fixed-fingering" instrument such as the recorder, but the kinematics might not be as interesting.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Before addressing the problem of modelling drummers, it will be helpful to review general approaches to human figure animation, including the way the animated body is represented and subsequently animated. Relevant research regarding expression in animation and music will also be discussed.

2.1 The Human Figure

The human body is most logically, and most commonly, represented as a hierarchical structure based on the skeleton (Figure 2.1).

Each joint is represented as a node in the tree. The bone between two joints defines an arc between the corresponding nodes in the tree. For example, the elbow and wrist nodes are connected by an arc designated by the lower arm. The tree structure is appropriate for human figure animation because body positions are typically described in terms of joint angles. One advantage is that transformations applied to nodes higher in the subtree will automatically affect all nodes in its subtrees. Thus, rotating the right shoulder will also position the elbow and wrist appropriately. Another advantage to the hierarchical approach is that each joint has its own local coordinate system so that rotations can be stored independently from other joints. Typically the pelvis is the root of the tree, with the back and legs as subtrees.

Associated with each joint is the number of *degrees of freedom*. A *pin joint* such as the elbow or knee has one degree of freedom. A *ball joint* such as the wrist has three degrees of freedom. It is necessary to store this information since each joint will require one rotational

3



Figure 2.1: An example of a hierarchically-defined skeleton. The number at each joint indicates the associated number of degrees of freedom.

value for each animated degree of freedom.

The hierarchical approach is the de facto standard in articulated figure animation, used in animation systems such as LifeForms [16], Bruderlin's gait modelling program Gaitor [13], Perlin's computer-generated dancer [43], and synthetic actors such as those found in "Rendezvous a Montreal" [37].

2.2 Methods of Creating Movement

While there is one generally accepted approach to representing a given articulated body, there are a number of methods used to specify its movement.

2.2.1 Keyframe Systems

The most common method used by animators is *keyframing*. The animators position the body for important frames (called *keyframes*). The computer generates the intermediate frames (called the *inbetweens*) by interpolating the values at adjacent keyframes. An example of a keyframe animation system is LifeForms [16].

Keyframe systems provide users with detailed, low-level control of the animation. However, complex movements such as walking [13] and interactions with other figures can be tedious and time-consuming.

2.2.2 Procedural Animation

Procedural animation is created through the use of algorithms which calculate the appropriate joint angles for each keyframe. Typically certain aspects of the animation are parameterized so that the user can affect the animation. Bruderlin, Teo, and Calvert [13] describe Gaitor, a system which uses procedural techniques for modelling human locomotion. Step length and step frequency are two example parameters which can be changed by the user to create different walking animations.

Procedural animation provides higher-level control of animations, and given appropriate algorithms, very detailed, accurate movements can be created. However, the algorithms are specific to particular movements, and movements outside the program's (usually limited) scope simply cannot be generated.

2.2.3 Motion Capture

Motion capture involves the recording of live human movement. The recorded movement is used to drive the motion of the computer-generated character. Sensors placed on the body can monitor the flexion of limbs and/or the angle of joint rotation. Alternatively, markers (or transmitters) can be placed on the body and optically tracked (or by magnetic or radio-frequency). Maestri [36] provides an overview of various motion capture systems.

Motion capture systems can deliver life-like movement, but obtaining the data is timeconsuming and technically difficult. Often the data is riddled with noise, ambiguous readings, and false information and requires post-processing. Optical systems suffer when a marker is occluded. Magnetic systems can limit the freedom of the performer and hence the kinds of movement which can be recorded.

When the captured motion is mapped to the articulated figure, it is important that the computer-generated figure be of a similar physical mass and height as the recorded subject. Heavier individuals have more momentum and require more time to stop. Tricks such as tying sandbags to a performer's legs to get a "heavier" movement, or extending the performer's tracked limbs with sticks to obtain the movements of a taller individual have

been used (at Electronic Arts, for example).

Sometimes, a precise recording of live movement is not what is required. Animations commonly use exaggerated movements [32] which bring characters more to life than if "realistic" movements were used.

2.3 Paradigms of Motion Control

Any system which automatically generates keyframes can use one (or both) of the following approaches: kinematics and dynamics.

Kinematic movement is determined by geometric characteristics of the figure, such asbone lengths and joint angles. The movement from dynamics is driven by forces and torques acting on the connected masses which define the figure. For example, a block which moves across the floor of a room from one side to another may be kinematically animated by specifying the positions of the block at the starting and ending times, and allowing the inbetweens to be generated. Animating using dynamics would involve specifying the mass of the block, its initial velocity, and forces acting on the block (such as the friction of the floor and the initial "pushing" of the block), and Newton's Laws can be applied to calculate the desired animation.

2.3.1 Kinematics

Often animators know where to place the hand of a figure, but find it tedious to position each parent joint in the hierarchy to achieve this hand placement. Instead, it would be easier to specify the *location* of the hand and have the joint angles automatically generated. This is known as the *inverse kinematic* problem. The object being positioned (in this case the hand) is known as the *end effector*.

Thus, given the geometry of an articulated figure and the location of the end effector, the joint angles are solved for using inverse kinematics. Conversely, given the geometry of an articulated figure and associated joint angles, and solving for the location of the end effector is called *forward kinematics*.

Kinematic techniques are used in keyframe animation systems such as LifeForms [16], Vertigo [22], and GIG 3DGO [22]. Perlin's computer-generated dancer [43], Bruderlin's walking figure [12], and Morowetz' goal-directed human animation [40] all employ a kinematic approach. Kinematics is an effective method because it allows direct control of the

generated movement, and is computationally less expensive and simpler to implement than dynamic methods.

2.3.2 Dynamics

There is a parallel pair of problems in the dynamics paradigm. Given the forces and torques and the physical characteristics of an articulated figure, solving for the resulting joint angles (or their acceleration) is called the *forward dynamics* problem. Likewise, given the joint accelerations and solving for the applied forces is called the *inverse dynamics* problem.

Dynamic methods are desirable because the generated motion is quite realistic. The animation of situations such as colliding objects can be calculated automatically. However, the systems of equations to be solved (or more typically, approximated) require the use of computationally expensive numerical methods. Sometimes solutions can be unstable, resulting in nonsensical movement. Another major problem is user control. It can be difficult to specify particular motion paths or even points, and thus it is sometimes easier for the animator to specify motion kinematically [58, 27].

Wilhelms [58] discusses Virya, a system which allows users to specify motion using dynamics. Forces acting on each degree of freedom of an articulated figure can be described as a function over time. The created output is a series of keyframes representing the predicted movement. These keyframes can be kinematically tweaked if necessary.

Manikin and Kaya [59] are two dynamic-based systems which allow motion to be specified by forces or by goals. When a goal position is specified, the system determines the appropriate forces and torques necessary to reach the goal. Girard and Maciejewski [25] use inverse dynamics to model the locomotion of legged figures. Hodgins et al. [28] use springs and dampers to dynamically model the motion in pumping a swing, riding a seesaw, juggling, and riding a unicycle.

Dynamics are useful for scientific applications where the accuracy of a physical simulation is required. But dynamics, in being "natural" lack the expressive movement that can only be obtained by exaggeration [32]. This is likely one more reason why animators will continue to use kinematic specification, even when dynamic methods are computationally viable.

There are other mathematical techniques which take a physical approach of the problem. Witkin and Kass [61] solve for physically valid motions when given a set of user-chosen constraints and goals to be met by the motion. This technique, known as *constraint optimization*, works well for simple systems, such as a point mass which has internal power

to accelerate, and must reach a positional goal. But as the system becomes more complex, such as a walking articulated figure with many degrees of freedom, it becomes extremely difficult to solve.

Badler et al. [7] use finite state machines and physical techniques to interpolate between two postures of a human figure. The figure in this goal-directed animation moves so as to be stable with respect to its centre of mass.

Overlapping movements such as waving and walking can be independently generated and later mixed in a kinematic system. However, in a dynamic system, the movements will need to be described and generated simultaneously because the forces of one motion affect the solution of forces in the other.

2.3.3 Interpolation

Keyframe systems use different kinds of interpolation to calculate "inbetween" values. Linear interpolation is the most simple method, but is easily criticized for its robotic look. One must look to curves of higher degrees to obtain smooth motion. *Interpolating* splines, such as Hermite and Bezier splines, travel through some of the control points which define the curve. However, motion created by adjacent spline segments may appear discontinuous without careful placement of the control points. CTB splines [30] are based on Hermite splines. But instead of manipulating tangent vectors, three parameters are used to affect the curve as it passes through the control points: continuity, tension, and bias. In particular, continuity is a valuable parameter for animation because both smooth and sudden movements can be easily specified. Bias controls of the amount of undershooting or overshooting of the spline through a control point. This is useful for providing anticipation or follow-through to a movement. Tension controls how straight the path is between two points.

Approximating splines such as B-splines and β -splines do not travel through the control points defining the curve, which makes control of the path more difficult. However, it is easy to achieve second-order continuity with these splines. Non-uniform rational B-splines (NURBS) interpolate between the first and last endpoints, but approximate among other control points. Also, points along the curve (called *knots*) can be used to edit the curve when control of the path is required.

In summary, splines allow the animator to add a variety of behavioural characteristics to keyframed motion.

2.4 Expression in Animation

Animation can be defined as the art of movement, or the art of moving with style [33]. By definition, it is the *movement* through which the artist communicates, whether the medium be clay or computer. Regardless of the human figure's representation or method of generating movement, *how* the figure will move aesthetically must be considered.

Expressive movement is important to bring personality to animated characters. Believable agents [9], computer-generated actors which algorithmically "behave" and interact withusers or other agents, also require fundamental "knowledge" of the kinematics of expression so that their actions are believable. Lasseter's classic paper [32] describes how to apply the fundamental techniques of traditional animation to 3D computer animation. These techniques are applicable whether the animation is created manually or procedurally.

2.4.1 Exaggeration

Perhaps one of the most important techniques, as addressed by both Laybourne [33] and Lasseter [32], is *exaggeration*. Exaggeration manifests itself in a number of principles, such as the amount of squashing or stretching of a deformable (or even non-deformable) object, or the amount of anticipation or follow-through of a movement. Motion capture systems can only obtain exaggerated movements that can be humanly acted; if more exaggeration is required, the animation can be touched up frame by frame, or can be processed at a higher level. Bruderlin and Williams [14] propose a number of motion signal processing techniques to effect motion captured data at a high level. Changing high frequencies affected details of the movement, while changing low frequencies had a more coarse, general effect. Kinematic systems can simply change exaggeration by the manipulation of keyframe positions and values. This is not a problem if such changes can be done automatically, as in a procedural system, but may be tedious in a keyframe system.

2.4.2 Signal Processing

R

Researchers are interested in finding "emotional transformations" which can be applied to motion-captured data. For example, by applying an "angry transformation" to a neutral walking motion or knocking motion, the resulting motion would represent an angry walk or knock. Unuma et al. [54] and Amaya et al. [3] have researched this technique, but generalized results have not been obtained.

.

2.4.3 Secondary Movements

Primary movements are those which contribute to the accomplishment of a specific goal. Secondary movements do not contribute directly to achieving the goal, but can add expression and meaning to the primary movements. A walking motion may be complemented with a secondary movement of looking around. Quick, frequent turns of the neck may imply paranoia, whereas slow, infrequent turns may suggest a casual interest in one's surroundings. Morowetz incorporates secondary movements in a script-based, goal-directed animation system [40]. It was found that adding such movements can change the expression of otherwise identical animations without requiring extensive work from the animator.

2.4.4 Repetition

Procedurally modelled animations may create cyclical motion more efficiently than an animator, but exact repetition in the movements may not convince the viewer of an expressive character [28]. Different techniques can be used to alleviate this problem. The use of different secondary movements can make for visually interesting sequences with the same primary movements [40].

Bates [9], referring to a discussion with animator Chuck Jones (co-creator of Bugs Bunny, Warner Brothers), states that it is the oddities, or "quirks" that give personality and life to characters. A quirk basically implies a break from the regular behaviour of the character, and could take place in either primary or secondary movements. To achieve a positional goal, a character may skip part of the way instead of walking the entire distance. Or a character may gesturally exclaim, "Eureka!" while walking.

Randomization is a common method for automatically introducing variation into movement. A quirk would typically be set off by some random function. Perlin [43] uses randomization so that various dance movements look similar, but are never exactly the same. Unuma et al. [54] use randomization at high frequencies to change a neutral walk into a shivering walk. Hodgins et al. [28] propose the use of noise to improve the various motions modelled by their dynamic system.

Variation in the movements of musicians are well known to researchers of musical input devices. Vertegaal and Ungvary [55] have an isometric device which allows for minor variations in the input to create the same basic musical output. They claim that it is this accommodating characteristic which makes their instrument a viable music controller. This

suggests that musicians can use slightly different movements and achieve the same musical result. Thus an animator would have some latitude as to how a particular score could be visualized.

2.5 Summary

From the review of computer animation literature it can be seen that there are a number of ways to construct a system to model musical performance. Consideration must be given to the range of producible movements, the ease of adding new features to the system, and available processing power for interactivity. Also, the ability to exaggerate, produce secondary movements, and introduce variation in the motion will play an important role in creating expressive performances.

Chapter 3

Background

An awareness of the various levels of expression and communication in musical performance is helpful in order to model gestural musical expression. This chapter provides a musicological discussion of expression, cites specific examples of gestural expression and technique in drumming, and explains how musical performance is an appropriate domain for the study of kinematic expression in human figure animation.

3.1 Expression in Music

Music is one of the oldest media for human artistic expression. Interestingly, musicologists debate over what exactly that "expression" is.

Todd [52] states that "... during a performance the performer adds something not contained or explicitly in the score, this we often refer to as *expression*."

Budd [15] is careful to point out the difference between the *arousal* of emotion and the *expression* of emotion. The expression of the emotion would be that which the writer or performer contributes to the music. The aroused emotion is that which the listener experiences while listening to the music. Budd notes that these are not necessarily the same thing. For example, a "sad" piece of music may make one feel sad; alternatively, the piece may be played so poorly as to make the listener angry for wasting their time listening to it.

Allen [2] breaks down the expression of emotion in a different manner, believing that arousal theory fails to distinguish between emotions which are evoked, provoked, and communicated. Emotion embedded in the music which makes the listener feel the same emotion is considered to be communicated, as in feeling sad when listening to a sad song. Emotion

12

embedded in the music which makes the listener feel a counterpart emotion is considered to be *evoked*. Allen provides the example that a piece of film music may arouse apprehension or fear in him, but the music would not be perceived to be apprehensive or fearful itself.[•] Finally, emotion which the listener experiences *about* the attempt at evoking or communicating emotion is considered to be *provoked*. Feeling "disenchanted" by a poor musical performance would be a provoked emotion.

13

The issue of expression is fairly complex, and this thesis certainly does not seek to resolve it; that will be for musicologists [26, 29, 45, 50]. However, a review of the literature is helpful to understand some of the underlying aspects of acoustic expression in music. Further literary research revealed some interesting findings with respect to gestural expression in music.

Clarke [17] looks at how music is cognitively represented as input to a motor system. He also identifies generative principles for musical expression during performance. Clarke states that using timing, dynamics, and articulation, "... expressive gestures can perform a number of different functions: these include altering the relative proportions of events within a rhythmic group, indicating the position of a group boundary, marking a metrical accent, and creating an expressive gradient towards a focal point (that is, a pattern of directed motion)." The fact that gestures play a number of different roles in musical performance provides some explanation why there are commonly several interpretations among observers. Note that if the mentioned musical elements are inferrable from the encoded score, they can provide cues for algorithmically adding secondary movements.

Todd [52] proposes that an observer of an expressive musical performance can be made to feel as though he/she were actually moving, a condition known as *vection*. When performing musicians sway, rock, or bounce, they are engaging in what is known as *vestibular selfstimulation*. This movement affects the expression of the music (with respect to timing), which causes the audience to experience audio-kinetic vection. The end effect is that the musician is "moving" the audience.

Todd discusses evidence that the amount of swaying is dependent on the amount of expression, and that "... viewers can reliably distinguish expressive from deadpan performances on the basis of visual information alone" [19].

With respect to modelling musical performance, where the expression is embedded in the music, it should be quantifiable and encodable so that appropriate performances can be interpreted and generated. Where the expression is something that is motivated by the.

performer, then the user should be allowed to control the kinematics of the performance so that the piece is, in fact, "expressed" by someone. Lastly, where the expression is that which is interpreted by the audience, the quality of the movement should be sufficient to allow the animator to communicate through the movement.

3.2 Encodings of Music

How a musical score is represented forms an integral aspect of modelling a musical performance. The representation dictates what kind of information can be stored, thereby indicating what gestures can be generated directly from the score and what gestures must be controlled by the user.

MIDI (Musical Instrument Digital Interface) [6] was designed for different electronic instruments and computers to communicate among one another. The MIDI software specification includes file formats and real-time performance messages. Essentials such as pitch, volume, and duration for each onset are discretely represented. Continuous controllers are added to represent performance elements as pitch bending and tremolo. MIDI is the industry standard for musical hardware communication and musical score portability. Music archives throughout the Internet are MIDI-based.

Other digital music representations exist such as *Finale* (Phil Farrand), *Darms* (Bauer-Medgelberg, Erickson, McLean), *Score* (Leland Smith), and *Mustran* (Wnker, Byrd) [42].

SMDL (Standard Music Description Language) [42] is likely the most comprehensive musical representation system, covering aspects from the printed score to musicological discussion. SMDL covers four domains of information: *visual, analytical, logical, and gestural.* The visual domain contains information about the printable score, or scores, for a single piece of music. The analytical domain contains theoretical and musicological information about the piece. The logical domain contains the the actual pitches, timings. and durations which comprise the musical cantus. The gestural domain contains performance information for an arbitrary number of performances. The gestural information could be very useful for a performance modelling program. Here, qualitative and quantitative descriptions of the score can change over time and help automate the modelling process.

3.3 A Video Review of Drumming

Before modelling the movement of drummers, it is important to carefully observe and analyse their kinematics. Music instruction and performance videos provide a rich source of drumming examples and explanations from professional musicians.

The performances of eight professional drummers were analysed in order to determine what is necessary to model the kinematics of drumming. Both common elements and differences were determined. Common elements can then be automated into the modelling process. Biases or differences can be parameterized, encoded by script, or represented in some other manner for user control.

Performances of following artists were analysed: Kenny Aronoff (rock) [5], Louie Bellson (big band/jazz) [10], Jack Dejonette (rock/jazz) [20], Peter Erskine (jazz) [21], Steve Gadd (rock/latin) [23], Steve Smith (rock/jazz) [48, 49], Ed Thigpen (jazz) [51], and Dave Weckl (rock) [56].

3.3.1 Commonalities

Most of the common movements deal with the hardware of the drum kit, such as the kick pedal, hihat pedal, opening and closure of the hihat, and vibrations of the various cymbals (see Figure 3.1). The amplitudes and durations of the cymbals' vibrations are determined in part by the size of the cymbal and how hard the cymbal was struck. The surfaces of the drums sometimes reflected light differently when hit. Another very subtle motion was the vibration of a struck high or mid tom.



Figure 3.1: Components of a drum kit. (Photo courtesy of UBG Digital Media.)

3.3.2 Differences

Most of the differences of movement occurred in the kinematics and basic technique of each drummer. In the following discussion, it is unlikely that a professional drummer is limited to using a single technique. The point is to show that such differences do in fact exist.



Figure 3.2: How to hold stick for matched grip or for right hand of traditional grip.

One difference is the way in which drummers hold their sticks. In the *matched* grip, each hand holds the stick "palms down." The sticks tend to point out as an extension of the forearm. With the *traditional* grip, the right stick is held as it is for the matched grip, but the left stick crosses the left hand, with the palms facing upwards. Here, the stick is more at a right angle with the forearm (see Figures 3.2 and 3.3). A different axis of rotation is used to strike with the left hand. Erskine [21], Weckl [56], use a traditional grip; Dejonette [20] and Aronoff [5], matched. Smith and Gadd gave performances with both grips.

The traditional way to play the hihat is with the right hand, as Smith, Thigpen, and Erskine do, but using the left hand has some advantages [38]. Playing the hihat or ride with the left hand avoids crossing and hitting the other hand playing the snare and leaves



Figure 3.3: How to hold stick for left hand of traditional grip.

the right hand free to play the toms while the left hand is busy. Aronoff, for example, plays this way. Gadd stated that he was so bored with the same patterns, performance after performance, that he sometimes switched and played left-handed hihats to "avoid going insane" [23]. Drummers like Aronoff typically move their ride cymbals from the right to the left of the kit to facilitate its playing with the left hand.

When playing the kick drum, music instructors will often tell students to play with the heel of the foot in contact with the ground. It is easier to control the dynamics with heels down, but many artists, including Smith and Weckl, play heels up when power is needed.

More distinguishing than particular techniques are the different kinematic styles of drummers. The movements can fall under two categories: *primary* and *secondary* movements. The primary movements are those which contribute directly to the drum stroke, such as those in the fingers, wrist, elbow, and shoulder. The secondary movements are those which do not directly contribute to the stroke, but are nonetheless an integral part of the playing style. Head bobbing and lower torso swaying are examples of secondary movement in drumming.

The difference between the kinematics of Smith and Dejonette can be readily observed. Smith keeps his sticks closer to the drums, whereas Dejonette has a higher backswing and rebound. Distinctions in secondary movements can be seen among Aronoff, Weckl, Bellson, and Thigpen. Weckl moves his head and back smoothly with the rhythm. Aronoff moves his head as well, but pulls back when playing the snare drum on beats 2 and 4. Sometimes he moves his head erratically from side to side. While commanding the drum set, Thigpen does

not move his head much at all. At some points, he simply has his head lowered, completely focused on the snare drum. Bellson sometimes leans over his drums to zig zag over the ride and crash cymbals with showmanship.

Instead of playing with sticks, alternative techniques can be used. Most of the viewed drummers demonstrated the use of brushes. Thigpen additionally played the kit with his bare hands. Dejonette and Thigpen demonstrated playing with mallets, while Bellson sometimes held two sticks in each hand. Each striking method requires a different playing technique, which requires a distinct kinematic specification.

3.4 Computer Visualization in Music

Computers and music have a long-standing relationship, particularly in sound synthesis and algorithmic composition [4, 18]. Various kinds of visualization have been studied as well.

Mitroo et al. [39] map musical pitches to colours. The temporal proximities of notes in the musical score are mapped to spatial proximities of colours. Their system artistically serves to create a "visual experience" of a musical score. They were also interested in visually comparing the pieces of composers using this-pitch-colour mapping.

Lamb [31] visualizes the timings and velocities of a performing student musician to analyse the accuracy of cross-rhythms. Lamb claims the program is useful because "students tend to hear the sounds they *intend* to produce, rather than what is actually played."

Software MIDI studios and music education software are examples of music visualization in widespread use [46, 63].

Music has played an integral part in traditional animation, and MIDI has facilitated even more strict ties to computer animation. The first MIDI-driven animation was "Beat Dedication," by Bob Sabiston [44, 47]. (Interestingly, this animation featured a drummer.) Brian Anderson created a more abstract MIDI-driven animation called "Alea."

Wayne Lytle [34], creator of the award-winning animation "More Bells and Whistles," used a MIDI score to drive the motion of various musical instruments. Lytle used CGEMS (Computer Graphics/Electronic Music System) to map aspects of the MIDI score to animated parameters. Some of the instruments were abstract and quite novel, such as mouthlike green pods, and circular chimes played by a shower of ball bearings. Motion was smooth, but simple. When percussive instruments such as the xylophone or drum kit were played, only the sticks or mallets were animated, without the musician.

"Lifesavers: Good Times Roll," a computer animation created by Topix Computer Graphics and Animation Inc., is an example of a successful use of MIDI-driven animation in a commercial application [44]. This television commercial shows an animated Lifesavers candy package dancing and playing a number of musical instruments. Topix was careful not to use "too much" synchronization. While the motion of the piano was MIDI-driven, the Lifesavers package which played the piano was not. Pfitzer talked to Bob Munroe, technical director at Topix. Munroe claimed that if the candy package were MIDI-driven, "... the bouncing pack would have ended up with less energy, fluidity, and character than when animated more traditionally." The intricities of the musical score would likely have caused the candy to ungracefully vibrate and would make the Lifesavers logo more difficult to read for the viewer.

3.5 Why music

Music provides an appropriate domain for expressive modelling for a number of reasons:

- Musical expression, like kinematic expression, has a number of levels of interpretation. Each can be described in terms of single events, such as a loud middle C, or a violent kick on a door (which is not necessarily the lowest level of analysis). Each can be described at a phrase or sequence level (or higher), such as a legato scale, or smoothly skating. Because the interpretation of both musical and kinematic events depend on neighbouring events, both domains are (by definition) context-sensitive.
- The domain of music is rich in expression, and the spectrum of movement in gestures of musical performance is very wide. Both subtle and strong movements (and later discovered, primary and secondary movements) are important to the modelling of musicians, just as they are to other forms of human figure animation.
- Simple elements of a musical score, such as pitch and timing information, allow for an event-driven system to be readily constructed. At the same time, complex musical scores can be created to provide interesting and challenging scores to be kinematically interpreted (either automatically, or by the user).
- With reliable, standardized representations such as MIDI, data set() are easy to create manually and are readily found in music archives such as those on the Internet.

3.6 The Challenge of Animating Musical Performance

Munroe [44] had more general comments about MIDI-driven animation: "Where MIDI falls short, and where I can always see it falling short, is in the embellishment and the personality that the animator can given an animation. You're not going to generate that from a program." Certainly no program, MIDI-driven or otherwise, can compete with the intelligence and creativity of a human animator. However, it is the claim of this thesis that expressive musical performance can be generated with careful design of the kinematic and aesthetic range of a MIDI-driven, modelled performance, combined with useful usercontrollable parameters. This way, the unwieldy task of accurately animating a musical score is done automatically and instead of relinquishing control of the expression to the program, the animator has higher-level tools to effect the expression.
Chapter 4

SMED: Proposal and Approach

This chapter describes a system for specifying kinematic expression in drumming scores: SMED; system for modelling expressive drumming. SMED reads any MIDI-encoded drum score and in real-time renders a 3D animation of a drummer's performance of that score. It allows the user to modify the frequency and amplitude of wrist, elbow, and shoulder rotations in order to affect the perceived expression of movement.

4.1 Features

4.1.1 Interface

Upon running SMED, the user is presented with a viewer window and a column of buttons (Figure 4.1). Each button opens up a new window with a set of related controls. The interface was designed so that the user could see as few or as many controls as desired.

The main rendering area is an Inventor Examiner Viewer [57]. This viewer displays the animated drummer and drum kit and provides complete viewpoint control for the user with zoom, pan, and rotation controls. Up to eight individual viewpoint settings can be stored and recalled in the View Flags window.

The transport button displays a window with a time counter and standard playback controls: play, stop, beginning of song, end of song, fastforward, and rewind (Figure 4.2). Additional forward/reverse step controls are provided to allow the user to view the animation in step-time. The size of the step is changeable as well. A reverse playback toggle and playback speed slider help the user to analyse the animation. The song flags button controls



Figure 4.1: Main window and viewer of SMED.

a window to store up to eight key song positions to be set for quick absolute positioning in a song.



Figure 4.2: Transport control window of SMED.

Sliders to control the kinematic expression of the drummer are grouped in a separate "figure options" window (Figure 4.3). The user is provided with controls to modify the frequency and the amplitude of the wrist, elbow, and shoulder joint rotations. The amplitude gain slider proportionally changes the amplitudes in all three joints. Each amplitude distribution slider shows the percentage of the amplitude gain attributed to the corresponding channel. Changing one channel's distribution by an amount A causes the other two channels to change by a total of -A. This inverse change is shared proportionally between the other two channels so that the ratio between these two channels is constant. The frequency sliders operate in the same manner, but affect the channel frequencies.

The drumming movements are complemented with head bobbing and lower back movements which are synchronized with the beat. The amplitudes of these movements are independently controllable. The beat length and number of beats per bar can be inferred from the MIDI file. Tempo changes are not currently processed, but the point of having these movements is to illustrate the effectiveness of incorporating secondary movements into the animation. SMED could be readily modified to accommodate tempo changes, but most MIDI scores (at least the ones tested) tend to be free of tempo changes. A separate window allows eight different kinematic settings to be stored, which can additionally be saved to file.

SMED has two other windows which are animated. The score window displays the drum score scrolling across the screen as it is played (Figure 4.4). This feature helps users to correlate between the score and the animation. To reduce rendering time, notes are represented by simple geometric shapes such as rectangles and diamonds. The glyphs are



Figure 4.3: Figure options window of SMED.

placed on their proper place on the musical staff and are coloured to help visualize the score. A four second lookahead and four second history is divided by a red bar to indicate the currently played notes.

The graph window displays a scrolling plot of the shoulder, elbow, and wrist angles (Figure 4.5). The primary purpose of the window is to show a user how the score and changes in the UI affect joint angles. The joint angles are colour coded and superimposed so that they can be visually compared.

4.1.2 Scripts

SMED can be tailored by editing particular script files. The body model is stored in a text Inventor file where limb lengths can be changed and geometric detail can be added where desired. The fundamental hierarchical structure of the figure must not change (Figure 4.6), otherwise assumptions about the structure of the drummer will be false, resulting in



Figure 4.4: The score window of SMED shows a scrolling score during playback. The thick black vertical line in the middle shows the current position in the song.

incorrect movements.

The kit script contains information to specify the setup of the drum kit (Figure 4.7), such as the size, location, and orientation of each drum (Figure 4.8). The primary purpose of the kit script was to facilitate the kit specification during development. The script can be edited to generate other kits, but there are some limitations to what can be changed. A fixed number of animated channels was created to keep interactive speeds and high frame rates. These channels, such as cymbal vibration and skin highlighting, make assumptions about the existence of particular drums. Also, the hand assignment algorithm is based on a MIDI standard drum setup, so it will take some programming effort to dynamically allocate animated channels and create hand assignments for arbitrary kit setups.

The sample assigned to each drum can be changed by loading different audio kits. Each audio kit is a list of digital audio files which is stored in parallel with the list of drums in the kit script. Each drum can have a different number of *variations*. For example, a hihat has three variations: open, closed, and pedal. A floor tom may have only one variation. Each variation has a corresponding MIDI note number as well as a proper audio sample.

MIDI incorporates the velocity (volume) of each note, which can simply be sent to the MIDI port during the playback of the animation. However, a digital audio sample must first be scaled to achieve the proper volume. To do this, each word of the sample must be multiplied by some scalar. Samples of up to 200,000 words can be required for sustained



Figure 4.5: Graph window of SMED.

instruments like crash cymbals, and scaling these in real-time with acceptable frame rates is not possible. Therefore, samples are scaled and stored for quick recall during playback. This is a compromise between space and time, but is well worth the improvement in performance. To lessen the impact of the space requirements, each drum can have a different number of prescaled samples. This quantity will be called the audio *resolution* of a drum. Short samples like the snare drum can then have a high resolution to reflect sonic subtleties, while long samples like the crash cymbal can have fewer levels of dynamics to save memory. The resolution is specified with each drum in the kit script.

When changes in scripts violate programming assumptions, creating errors such as a limb not being able to reach a drum for a specific onset, error messages are displayed.

4.1.3 Automation

Several tasks are done for the user to facilitate the creation of data sets and to aid in the visualization of the scores.



Figure 4.6: The segment lengths (in millimeters) of the used skeleton and number of animated degrees of freedom for each joint are shown. The body is symmetrical in the segment lengths and animated degrees of freedom.

27



28





Figure 4.8: The depth, radius, height, orientation, wrist radius, and wrist height are defined for each drum in a kit definition file. The orientation of the drum is given by two angles, ϵ and ϕ , which describe the rotation of the drum about the x and y axes, respectively.

- A utility called *mid2scr* converts a MIDI file to SMED's score format. The score is in a text format so that hand assignments can be modified by the user, and test files can be created without a MIDI sequencing program.
- The limbs are animated so that notes encoded with higher velocities are played with greater stroke amplitude. Sequences of notes which occur very close together are played with attenuated amplitudes.
 - Drum skin highlighting, cymbal vibration, foot pedal movement and hihat opening/closing provide visual cues to accompany the score being played. They also serve to simulate movements which occur in live performance.
 - The amplitude of the head bobbing changes based on the velocity and density of the played notes. The head and back movements oscillate to the beat of the music and

29

thus provide a visual cue for tempo.

4.2 Algorithms

A design goal for SMED was that the system could respond quickly to changes in the UI. SMED relies on an adaptation of keyframing where some keyframes are generated on the fly in response to user specifications and others are computed in advance to reduce run-time overhead.

30



Figure 4.9: Illustration of limb positionings for calculated keyframes. The preparation keyframe (p) shows the considered angles of rotation: wrist, α ; elbow, β ; shoulder, γ .

The basic drumming stroke can be defined using three keyframes: a *preparation* keyframe that readies the arm, a *strike* keyframe for when the stick is in contact with the drum, and a *rebound* keyframe that defines how far back the arm moves at the end of the stroke (Figure 4.9). Intermediate joint values are calculated using CTB spline interpolation [30]. By manipulating the continuity, one may readily obtain desirably smooth motion, as well as model stick-drum impacts.

SMED creates the preparation and rebound keyframes at run-time, and these are processed with adjacent strike keyframes for interpolation. Changing the amplitude sliders affects the rotational values stored at the preparation and rebound keyframes, whereas changing the frequency sliders affects the relative locations of the keyframes. Increasing the amplitude increases the range of movement during both the preparation and rebound phases. Increasing the frequency reduces the time between the preparation and strike frames and that between the strike and rebound frames, adding a "snap" to the strike motion.

Neighbouring strike frames, which are time-stamped according to the score, may be so close that the keyframing algorithm will combine the rebound and preparation keyframes into a single keyframe. If strike frames are even closer, amplitudes are attenuated (Figure 4.10). This reflects an observation (and personal musical experience) that drummers tend



Figure 4.10: Due to the proximity of strike keyframes s1 and s2, rebound frame r1 and preparation frame p2 are represented by a single keyframe. Continuing to move s1 and s2 together causes attenuation in the rotation. The amount of attenuation Δa increases as Δt decreases.

to shorten stroke lengths for quick sequences of notes.

All of the strike keyframes are precomputed and stored since they are independent of the frequency and amplitude settings. This avoids numerous trigonometric calculations at run-time.

4.2.1 Kinematic Computations

Once the MIDI file has been converted to SMED's score format (discussed later), a number of passes is made of the score to calculate joint angles. Figure C.1 serves as a reference for trigonometric calculations.

 $\mathbf{31}$

Torso Twist and Swaying

The movements of the back rocking and twisting affect the position of the shoulder and hence other joints in the heirarchy (Figures 4.11 and 4.12). For this reason the keyframes of the lower back are calculated first.

The torso twist angles (those about the z-axis) are calculated to face the drummer in the general direction of drumming activity. The drummer attempts to face each hit drum. head-on (Figure 4.11). The angular velocity of the back has a ceiling so that unnatural, abrupt motions are not produced.



Figure 4.11: The drummer attempts to face each drum at the point of stick impact. To play drum 1, the drummer attempts to face it at an angle of λ . Calculations shown are precomputed.

The oscillation of the lower back (rotation about the x-axis) is created by using two keyframes for each beat of a score. One keyframe brings the upper torso down on the beat, the other puts the upper torso upright between beats. For the swaying movement of the back (and neck), frequency is *simulated* by manipulating the control, tension, and bias of the interpolating CTB spline.

Head Bobbing

Although the neck keyframes do not affect other joint positions, they are calculated at the same time since the logic is similar to that of the back. Two keyframes are used for the

32



Figure 4.12: Formula for determining the height of the shoulder. ω changes over time as the back oscillates to the beat.

neck for each beat of the score, and frequency is simulated as it is for the lower torso. But the amplitude of the neck is not completely controlled by the user as it is for the back. The amplitude of the head is algorithmically determined based on the MIDI velocity of the notes at the head bob and the number of surrounding notes.

At the neck keyframe on the beat, a *bobbing factor* is stored to scale the user-selected amplitude. The bobbing factor is composed of two cofactors: the *velocity* cofactor and the *density* cofactor.

The velocity cofactor considers the onsets of the kick, snare, toms, and crash cymbal within a narrow time interval of the downbeat. The ride cymbal and hihat are not considered since their contribution to the musical dynamics is more subtle. The currently used strike range has a radius of 25 milliseconds. The average velocity of all onsets within the interval is calculated. This way, two loud onsets will give a higher cofactor, and hence a greater head swing, than one loud and one soft onset. Ten percent is added to the cofactor for each note in the strike range. This way, two loud onsets will produce a higher cofactor than one loud onset, and the overall dynamics of the score is reflected by the bob of the neck.

The density cofactor considers all onsets between the edge of the strike range and the midbeat on either side of the beat. Basically, the more drumming activity around the beat, the less the amount of head bobbing. In this way, the drummer will not bob his head so violently during drum rolls, and deeper head swings will occur at points where the beats are marked with rest. The closer the rest space is to the beat, the higher it is weighted because if activity clustered near the midbeat, the drummer would still have time to bob his head.



34

Figure 4.13: Illustration showing section score and onsets. Assume that each onset has the same velocity. The head bob for beat 1 will have a lower amplitude than that for beat 2 for two reasons: (a) beat 1 has only one note in its strike range, whereas beat 2 has three, and (b) the intervals before and after beat one are divided by onsets, whereas beat 2 has an interval before it which will result in the maximum value for a density cofactor. Interval w is divided into three subintervals, w1, w2, and w3, by two onsets.

Consider an interval on one side of the beat of w seconds (Figure 4.13); n onsets divides the interval into n + 1 subintervals with lengths of w_1 to w_{n+1} seconds. The weight of interval i will be $w_i/(1 + ic)$, where $c \ge 0$; c is a constant that determines the affect of the proximity of the rests to the beat. A c value of 0 will cause rests to be weighted strictly by their length in time. A "useful" c value will be in the neighbourhood of 0.5 to 3.0. The n + 1 weights are summed and divided by w to yield a density cofactor between 0 and 1. The interval on each side of the beat is calculated, and the higher factor is taken.

Shoulder Location

Once torso rotations have been determined, the location of the shoulders and the angle required to point the arm at the centre of the drum for each onset are determined. This is done trigonometrically, and is described in Figures 4.14 and 4.15.



Figure 4.14: Formulae for determining the location of the shoulder in the x, y plane. (x0, y0) represents the coordinates of the base of the neck. λ represents the angle of rotation of the λ torso, which may or may not be directly facing a drum as shown here.



Figure 4.15: Formulae for determining κ , the angle which the shoulder twists about the z axis.

35

Wrist Location

The location of the wrist for each onset is then determined. The kit script explicitly states the height of the wrist for each drum. The x and y coordinates of the wrist are determined by the intersection of the line connecting the centre of the drum to the shoulder and the circle of a radius specified in the kit script (called the *wrist radius*). The z coordinate of the wrist is also defined in the kit script (called the *wrist height*). Figures 4.8 and 4.16 provide details.



s is xy distance from the shoulder to the drum:

$$s = \sqrt{(x1 - xs)^2 + (y1 - ys)^2}$$

a shows how close the wrist is to the centre of the drum along s:

₃a=r/s

Location of wrist:

$$xw = x1 + a^{*}(xs - x1)$$

 $yw = y1 + a^{*}(ys - y1)$

zw is given as the wrist height for that drum

Figure 4.16: The distance between the wrist and the centre of the drum projected on the xy plane is given by the wrist radius (r). The line segment connecting the centre of the drum and the shoulder projected onto the xy plane is represented by s. The x and y wrist coordinates are yielded by the point found a distance of r from the centre of the drum along segment s. The z wrist coordinate is given by the wrist height (h) for the associated drum.

Knowing the locations of the wrist and the shoulder, the required elbow and shoulder angles can be deterimined. The wrist angle is computed as the angle required to bring the stick to the plane of the drum surface. By keeping the stick, lower arm, and upper arm

coplanar throughout the stroke, the movement is sufficiently constrained to avoid requiring inverse kinematics [24], although some range of motion is compromised. This direct, analytic approach is efficient and real-time animation is readily achieved.

37

Elbow Angle

Once the locations of the wrist and shoulder are known, the angle of the elbow can be determined. The distance between the elbow and the shoulder is known, as well as³⁴the forearm and upper arm segment lengths. The triangle can be solved for the elbow and shoulder angles, as Figure 4.17 shows.





Wrist Angle

The remaining angle to be determined is that of the wrist in order to place the tip of the stick on top of the drum head (Figure 4.18). The plane of the face of the drum is determined. The coordinates of the tip of the stick are then evaluated as the angle of the wrist changes. When the tip of the stick crosses the plane of the drum head, an approximation of the contact point has been found, and the associated wrist angle is stored.

4.2.2 Hand Assignment

SMED requires a solution to the interesting problem of determining a limb assignment for each onset since MIDI does not encode this information. To achieve a "good" hand assignment, one should keep in mind that "[a musician's] actions can be characterized by ease of execution, accuracy, repeatability, fatigue, and response" [60].

A common technique drummers use to reduce fatigue is to alternate hands while playing. This is commonly observed while sixteenth-note hihats or tom fills are played. However, alternation is not a strict rule. For simple, repeated patterns which typically involve the snare in combination with the hihat or ride cymbal, limbs are "stationed" at specific instruments. One hand (usually the left) will hover near the snare while the other plays the hihat or ride. Developed muscular control allows advanced drummers to quickly and repeatedly play the hihat or ride with one hand, but there is typically some "threshold" at which the left hand will alternate with the right to help play some notes.

When determining an appropriate hand assignment, it is desirable to minimize the distance hands need to move and reduce the number of crossovers (where the left hand is playing to the right of the right hand).

Pattern Matching

One possible approach is the use of pattern matching. If the score could be expressed as a combination of drum patterns within a database, it may be possible to achieve a hand assignment by simply using the assignments stored with the individual patterns in the database. Researchers have used pattern matching in a small corpus to assign fingerings to single-voice keyboard music [41]. Note that this method may produce undesirable results if the body must make awkward movements *between* patterns. Also, the pattern matching method is limited to pieces consisting solely of patterns in the database.



Given:

centre of drum, (xd, yd, zd) tilt of drum about x axis, ε tile of drum about y axis, ϕ location of wrist, (xw, yw, zw) 39

Determine plane of drum head:

Ax + By + Cz + D = 0, where $A = sin \phi cos \varepsilon$ $B = -sin \varepsilon cos \phi$ $C = cos \varepsilon cos \phi$ D = - (A x1 + B y1 + C z1)

Given:

length of stick from palm centre to tip, S distance from palm centre to wrist, h angle of stick in palm about x axis, μ angle of wrist about x axis, α angle of elbow about x axis, β angle of shoulder about x axis, γ angle of shoulder about x axis, ω angles of back and shoulder about z axis (twist --- not shown), τ

 $b = \sqrt{h^2 + s^2 - 2hs \cos(\pi - \mu)'}$

 $\begin{aligned} \mathsf{xt} &= \mathsf{xw} - \mathsf{b} \, \sin\left(\alpha + \beta + \gamma + \omega + \mu\right) \, \sin\tau \\ \mathsf{yt} &= \mathsf{yw} + \mathsf{b} \, \sin\left(\alpha + \beta + \gamma + \omega + \mu\right) \, \cos\tau \\ \mathsf{zt} &= \mathsf{zw} - \mathsf{b} \, \cos\left(\alpha + \beta + \gamma + \omega + \mu\right) \end{aligned}$

Wrist angle α is varied until tip of stick crosses plane of drum face (when Axt + Byt + Czt + D'changes sign).

Find:

 α , angle of wrist required such that the tip of the stick touches the surface of the drum



Figure 4.18: Formulae for determining the angle of the wrist.

Production Rules

Production rules could map strings of notes to hand assignments. There is often more than one way to play a given string of notes, but there is usually a preferred way. Each rule could be weighted so that higher-weighted rules are preferred, but lower-weighted rules will be chosen if a combination of higher-weighted rules cannot coexist. Production rules would be appropriate because they could be added, removed, and modified easily once the production rule engine is in place.

One problem with production rules is that the produced solution may have a feasible, but "odd" hand assignment. For example, hi-hats may be played by the left hand for a measure, and then switch to the right hand for another measure.

Determining the weights of each rule is a non-trivial task. Aspects of timing, position, and fatigue contribute to the weight of an assignment and their influence on the weight must also be considered.

Constraint Satisfaction Problem

It may be possible to solve the assignment problem as a constraint satisfaction problem. In terms of the well-studied Scheduling Problem:

- the hands are resources
- the drum strokes are tasks
- the MIDI file contains a clearly specified list of task times (the schedule)
- physical limitations of the body would serve as additional constraints (such as for crossovers)

The difficulty of this approach is having to *specify the constraints* so that where more than one possible assignment is possible, the optimal one will be chosen.

Implemented Approach

A hybrid algorithm was ultimately used to assign limbs to onsets so that programming effort could be directly applied to the given task rather than in implementing, say, a production rule engine. The "knowledge" is embedded in the algorithm directly. Although this is not 3

a general solution to include other instruments such as the piano, it serves well enough to process simple drumming scores so that SMED's features can be tested.

This algorithm (Figure 4.19) runs in O(n) time, where n is the number of onsets in the score. This is in the spirit of the computational "economy" of SMED. The algorithm makes multiple passes on the score. An onset is assigned a limb during one of the passes. During the first pass, hard-coded assignments are considered. For example, pedal hihat's and kick drums can be expressly assigned to the left and right feet, respectively. During the second pass, onsets whose difference in time is below a certain threshold are assigned to different limbs. The third pass is a backwards traversal that ensures that onsets are assigned to properly lead in to sequences of quick notes. Now that sections of the score which require alternating hands have been assigned, the fourth pass is free to assign the dominating limb for each of the ride, hihat, and crash cymbals. The fifth pass simply assigns alternating hands to the remaining drums.

Figure 4.20, 4.21, and 4.22 demonstrate how the algorithm works. One of the non-optimal results of the algorithm is also shown in Figure 4.22.

This algorithm incorporates knowledge of drumming styles specific to rock and jazz. Certain assumptions are made to simplify the assignment process. The algorithm is based on a "standard" kit layout, with a snare, hihat, crash cymbal, high tom, mid tom, ride cymbal, and floor tom positioned clockwise in front the drummer. This is typical for drummers playing right-hand ride, but the crash and ride would be switched for a drummer playing left-hand ride. A better algorithm would incorporate the geometry of arbitrary kits, and possibly the geometry of the drummer. Also, double strokes (playing two notes quickly with the same stick) could be considered to help lead fills.

4.3 Design Decisions

4.3.1 Kinematics vs. Dynamics

Dynamic control of movement would be attractive because of the natural motion created. The velocity parameter in the score could be mapped to the force exerted by the body on the drum to vary the motion. The most important aspect of control is having the stick strike the surface of the drum. A constraint-based approach could be used to specify each onset as a temporal and positional constraint. Accurate collision detection could be used to model stick-drum impacts.

Hand Assignment Algorithm

Input. Score without limb assignments. Output. Score with limb assignments.

THRESHOLD = minimum time between two onsets in order to be played by the same hand; otherwise, must alternate hands

42

s....

BEGIN Assignment

First pass: hard-coded assignments

For each note, if note is kick drum: assign to right leg pedal hihat: assign to left leg ride cymbal: assign to right hand mark note as unassigned other:

Second pass: alternate hands for quisk notes on different drums

note1 = first note not assigned to a leg note2 = next note not assigned to a leg

while note1 is not the last note

if note2 has not been assigned if the time between note1 and note2 is below THRESHOLD if note1 has been assigned

assign note2 to the opposite limb

if note1 and note2 are not the same drum assign the left arm to the note for the drum on the left assign the right arm to the note for the drum on the right

else don't assign note1 or note2 yet

note1 = note2

note2 = next note not assigned to a leg end while

Third pass: propogate assignments backward for quick notes on same drum

note1 = last note not assigned to a leg note2 = previous note not assigned to a leg while note1 is not the first note if note2 has not been assigned if the time between note1 and note2 is below THRESHOLD if note1 has been assigned assign note2 to the opposite limb assign hote: to see an ot the same drum if note1 and note2 are not the same drum assign the left arm to the note for the drum on the left assign the right arm to the note for the drum on the right assign right arm to note closer to 8th/16th/32nd note division assign left arm to other note note1 = note2 note2 = previous note not assigned to a leg end while Fourth pass: make hard-coded assignments to notes of specific drums

For each unassigned note, if note is: hihat: assign to right arm crash cymbal: assign to right arm low tom: assign to right arm

Fifth pass: alternate limbs for remaining notes

For each unassigned note, assign the opposite limb of that of the previous note

Figure 4.19: Hand assignment algorithm.



43

Figure 4.20: A standard drum pattern is processed by the limb-assignment algorithm. In (a), hard-coded assignments, such as the foot pedals, are made in the first pass (shown by marking assigned onsets with an F). In (b), notes within a certain distance in time (circled), are assigned to different limbs if the onsets are on different drums in the second pass (shown by marking assigned onsets with L and R). In (c), remaining notes which can be played by a fixed limb are assigned in the fourth pass.







Figure 4.21: Another standard drum pattern is processed by the limb-assignment algorithm. In (a), hard-coded assignments, such as the foot pedals, are made in the first pass. In the second pass (b), notes within a certain distance in time (circled), are assigned to different limbs if the onsets are on different drums. The sixteenth notes at the beginning of the measure are skipped because they are the same drum, and a local onset has not been assigned to provide context. The sixteenth notes after the first snare hit are assigned since the first snare onset provides a starting point for alternating hands. In the third pass (c), notes within a certain distance in time (circled) are assigned, propagating changes backwards through the score.

44



45

Figure 4.22: A drum fill is processed by the limb-assignment algorithm. In the (a) second and (b) third passes, an optimal hand assignment is produced. The fill consists of sixteenth notes from the high tom, to the mid tom, to the floor tom, which are typically situated in the drum kit from left to right. However, a non-optimal assignment may be produced, as in the example illustrated in (c), where the floor tom onsets are replaced by snare onsets. The forward propagation of the hand assignment causes the left hand playing the high tom to be crossed-over by the right hand playing the snare drum. Such crossovers are visually interesting. However, they would not be suitable in an educational setting.

However, dynamic methods are computationally expensive, and particularly so in an interactive environment such as SMED. As users change the expression, the underlying equations which define the motion will also change. It is unlikely that stable solutions could be reached at interactive speeds.

46

Consequently, SMED uses a keyframe system whose frames are determined using forward kinematics. A kinematic system is relatively simpler to implement since movements can be designed and implemented independently. For example, adding a foot movement to play a closed hihat will affect the distribution of forces on the body in a dynamic system. In a keyframe system, this movement is isolated to the channels of the foot and hihat.

Forward kinematics in particular offers unique, stable solutions which are faster to compute than dynamics or inverse kinematics. Smooth, life-like motion can be approximated with non-linear interpolation. Yet the movement is not constrained to physical laws as it would be in a dynamic system.

A dynamic approach may be suitable for a final rendering of the drumming movement (providing that physical laws are obeyed), but only kinematics offer the interactivity essential for exploring the space of expressive movements.

4.3.2 MIDI vs. SMDL and others

Since MIDI has substantial advantages over other encoding methods, it was a clear choice to represent the drumming scores. MIDI has been tested and used professionally in studios and live performance for over ten years. Its reliability, availability, and cost effectiveness has led to thousands of home studios. Many amateur and professional musicians have posted their scores on the Internet, leading to archives of thousands of songs. Because of MIDI's standard drum instrument assignments, many of these songs are usable as test data for SMED. Specific data sets can be generated in almost any MIDI sequencing environment.

Drum scores can be recorded live in a MIDI format by using a MIDI drum kit. Bob Peele is a drummer and music teacher in Australia. It was possible to collaborate and visualize his performances in SMED by using the MIDI standard drum assignments.

Finally, MIDI programming and hardware resources are available on the Silicon Graphics platform. This platform was the choice for modelling the movement because of its rendering power. The existence of an SGI MIDI library, as well as source code for processing MIDI files, facilitated incorporating MIDI into SMED.

SMDL has the advantage of storing gestural performance information. In this way,

SMDL may be an appropriate representation for including the kinematic output of a SMEDgenerated performance with the score. However, SMED was created so that expressive performance could be designed, not simply played back from a recorded performance.

47

4.3.3 Interpolation

CTB spline interpolation was chosen to calculate inbetween frames. Smooth movements between frames of adjacent strokes are produced at default continuity, tension, and bias settings. To get similar movement with Bezier or Hermite curves, consideration must be given to the tangent vectors between segments. B-splines are smooth, C2 continuous curves by default, but they do not go through control points as is the case with CTB splines. This is a problem while generating the movement to strike the drum because the limbs will only be shown come *near* the drum and not strike the surface. Also, B-spline curves are constrained to be C2 continuous, which is not desirable for modelling the discontinuous motion during a stick-drum impact. CTB splines can easily model the impact by setting one continuity value at a single control point.

4.3.4 Drumming Technique

Initial decisions on the drumming technique to be used were made to simplify the modelling process. The matched grip was chosen because it allowed the rotations of the wrist, elbow, and shoulder to be constrained within the same plane. This simplified the calculations required to determine the position of the arm when striking the drum.

The pedals of the kick drum and hihat are played heels down. While a heels up style would provide for additional interest, it may be distracting from the kinematics of the arms. Heels down is more appropriate for educational situations since beginner drummers are taught foot control by playing heels down.

4.4 Treatment of Expression

One may wish to algorithmically generate expressive movements based on the score. However, the expressive power of MIDI limits what a score can encode.

4.4.1 Levels of Interpretation

MIDI does encode the velocity of each onset. From this, one has some measurement of how hard the instrument was played, from which the movement required to play that note may be inferred.

The louder the note, the higher the rotational velocity of the stick at impact. This is supported by the statement "the faster the louder, the slower the softer" [53]. While this phrase typically refers to how tempo and volume (dynamics) relate, it also applies well to the kinematic (physical performance) domain.

MIDI velocity is a very low-level facet of musical expression. SMED also generates expressive movement at a slightly higher level: *measures*. Clark [17] showed that changing the location of the bar lines (which delimit measures) caused musicians to sight-read a passage with different acoustic expressions. Thus the additional knowledge of the beginning of the measure provides musical context for the ensuing notes.

A previous implementation of SMED attempted to model the performance with only timestamps of onsets (without measure information). The current version is more expressive because head and back movements synchronized with each beat of a measure could be added, given information about the beat length and number of beats per bar. These secondary movements provide a visual tempo cue (like a metronome) and enforce the audible beat of the score.

For higher levels of interpretation, it would be better to offer the user local control of the kinematics so that different performance styles could be used at different locations in the piece.

4.4.2 Repetition

Many of the built-in features of SMED help to avoid the problem of robotic and "canned" movements. Drum scores created from MIDI drum kits will have variations in the velocity of each note; causing perturbations in the amplitude of the arms. MIDI velocity will also affect the amplitude of cymbal vibrations, hihat and hihat pedal movements, and kick pedal and hammer movements. Movements of the torso provide interest not only by the movement of the upper body, but also by changing the positioning of a limb when it strikes a drum. Variations in head bobbing also provide visual interest, but are also reflective of the score since they are driven by the velocity and density of the surrounding notes.

Local control would allow for user-controllable variation, but it is encouraging to see effective results from the procedurally generated motion.

49

4.4.3 Animator Control

Without additional performance information in the encoded score, it would probably be unwise to assign expressive movements to the primitive elements encoded in MIDI. This is why it has been resolved to give the user (animator) a few high-level tools to create an animation which is a personal expression of the score.

4.5 Applications

SMED should be readily applicable in music education. Abeles et al. [1] describe five fundamental methods in which computers can be used in music instruction: *tutorial, drill and practice, computer games, simulation,* and *tools.* As a simulation, SMED provides a moving example of how a piece should be played and shows limb placement at any given moment. SMED has an advantage over video instruction because the student has complete control of the viewpoint and greater control of the playback speed. Also, the frequency and amplitude controls can be used to tailor the demonstration to serve the needs of the score, or to suit the drumming style the student has learned.

By adding a looping feature, SMED could be used to repeatedly demonstrate patterns for drills and exercises. In combination with a MIDI drum kit, the student's timing and accuracy could be evaluated, and the difficulty of the drills could automatically change as required.

Abeles et al. [1] praise games as being motivational and thus a valuable instructional tool. A system with a MIDI drum kit could be used to create a musical game, such as "battling drummers" in which the student would compete against the drummer by repeating certain scores at a target level of accuracy by "out-improvising" the computer drummer.

"Tutorials typically present both information to the learner and then test the learner's acquisition of the knowledge" [1]. With an appropriate curriculum, SMED could aid tutorials by demonstrating particular drumming techniques or rudiments such as three-stroke rolls and paradiddles. In a video instruction scenario, the video cameras, lighting, microphones, sound recording equipment, and drum kit must be set up, which is a time-consuming and ~-

expensive process. This makes it difficult for creating new tutorials. Changing tutorial demonstrations with SMED can simply be done by changing MIDI files.

Tool programs are those which are used by working professionals. Such programs can sometimes be used in educational environments. The tool programs to which music students are exposed are music composition programs. Since SMED is not (yet) used by working professionals, it cannot serve in such a manner. However, with a feature to export animation sequences, SMED may be a useful tool program for introducing animators to forms of higherlevel animation.

Musicians creating their own drum scores can use SMED to see their written work in action. SMED could help expose portions of the music which are too difficult to play. The score could then be edited appropriately in the artist's MIDI song writing environment.

The methods used in SMED could be used to model other forms of figure animation by replacing the modelling algorithms with those for the desired movement. The user would continue to use the high-level tools to create a variety of expressive movements rather than use motion-capture or traditional keyframe animation systems to create individual movements from scratch.

The technique of manipulating keyframe placement and value would be valuable in interactive environments. Applying this technique to only a few joints has provided for a wide array of expressive movements in SMED. Both subtle and dramatic variations are important to maintain users' interest in an interactive environment, whether it be a game or some form of virtual reality.

4.6 Summary

In summary, SMED is a program which visualizes performances of drum scores. Any MIDI drum score, with standard assignments for an 8-piece modern drum kit, is accepted and the corresponding 3D animated performance is produced using forward kinematics. The animation of the basic drumming stroke is automated, as are other movements such as cymbal vibration and pedal movement. The user is allowed to affect the kinematics of the animation using frequency and amplitude controls (see Figure 4.23 for a summary of motion control). Additionally, SMED uses dynamics and note timing information to affect the amplitude of the neck. The automation of movement has been done judiciously so that the space of possible drumming styles is not over-constrained while controlling the animation



Summary of Kinematic Control

Figure 4.23: This chart shows which kinematic aspects are controlled by the user, and which are automated by SMED.

can be done at a high-level.

Chapter 5

User Evaluation

A user study was conducted to evaluate the extent to which the goal of creating a tool to specify kinematic expression in the animation of musical scores has been met. The aim is to show that SMED can be used in an intuitive manner to create a wide range of expressive movements.

SMED was evaluated (1) in terms of its usability and (2) in terms of its success in allowing *meaningful* visualizations of musical scores. The usability of SMED was tested by asking each subject to use the interface to create appropriate animations for each of five scores of contrasting musical styles. The quality of the visualization was tested by determining whether the subjects' interpretations of the scores changed when the kinematics of the performance changed.

When subjects are asked to create appropriate performances for pieces with different musical styles, it is not important that there is a general consensus among the subjects as to what a "jazz style" should look like. The user's interpretation of the expression will be influenced by his/her personal experience. What is important is that given a set of contrasting musical pieces, the subject expresses the piece with contrasting performance styles (kinematics). In this way, it can be shown that:

- different musical styles elicit different kinematic expressions of the piece, and
- SMED is able to allow the user to specify those expressions.

Likewise, when subjects are asked to interpret the kinematic style of a piece, it is not important that there is a common interpretation among users. What *is* important is that

given a single score and a set of contrasting kinematic styles, the subject interprets the piece with contrasting descriptions. In this way, it can be shown that:

• SMED is capable of generating different kinematic styles which elicit different interpretations of the performance.

A record was kept of each subject's UI settings and comments for each created animation to determine a sample breadth of the possible expressions that SMED can generate.

Other questions were used to prompt the subject's ratings and comments on

1. how intuitive SMED is to use, and

2. SMED's scope for expressive movement.

Appendices A and B contain the questionnaire and raw survey data.

5.1 Subject Profile

SMED was designed to be controllable by the most novice computer user, regardless of experience in music or animation. However, questions concerning the subjects' backgrounds in music, animation, and computing were asked in order to expose biases and variations of experience within the group.

Subjects were asked what instruments they play, and how long they have played. Whether the subjects play a percussive instrument or some other instrument, or whether the subjects are musicians or non-musicians will likely influence their understanding and interpretation of kinematics in musical performance.

Subjects were asked which styles of music they listen to, and how long they listen to music each week. A subject's musical tastes may influence how they interpret rhythmic aspects of music and movement. Particular interest in certain styles may allow a subject to distinguish more subtle differences in their musical performances. Subjects may rely on cursory experience or stereotypes to interpret performances of music they are not accustomed to.

Subjects were asked how much time they spend watching music videos and the number of live musical acts they see yearly to get a feel for the subjects' regular exposure to watching musical performance. Subjects were also asked whether or not they take an active interest

in watching drummers perform to see how their interests aligned with modelling drumming movements.

Finally, subjects were asked to rate their experience with dancing, creating animation, and computing. This background information will provide a coarse representation of the subjects' understanding of related fields, and may affect how they perceive, interpret, describe, and create drumming animations.

5.1.1 Creation of Evaluation Group

The user evaluation group consisted of eleven subjects. Each subject was either a computing science graduate student or a member of the Graphics and Multimedia Research Lab. Selecting subjects from a common source, whether it be from a class of computing science students or from an entire university, will introduce certain demographic biases. However, whether these biases significantly affect the results depends on the experiment. The subject profile attempts to expose such biases since obtaining a truly "random" sample is difficult.

This research is exploratory in nature, and the experiments are not intended to be used to establish strong correlations or be processed by advanced statistical techniques. Thus, the size and background of the evaluation group is sufficient to test SMED, provide a coarse measure of success, and suggest future refinements and directions of research.

5.1.2 Analysis

The subjects' backgrounds in musical performance were varied (see Figure 5.1). Eight of the eleven subjects studied a musical instrument, such as the guitar, piano, cello, trumpet, marimba, and saxophone. Years of experience greatly varied from 0.5 to 19 years, with a median experience of 4.5 years among musicians and 3 years among the entire sample.

Note that there is no documented experience in drumming among subjects. Instruments such as the guitar and piano are more commonly studied, so the lack of a drummer in a small sample should be no surprise. This does not miss the intent of the experiments because this research is concerned with the more general appeal and communication of kinematic expression. Drummers may be more sensitive to errors in limb assignment or imperfections in movement. This vacuum of expertise can hopefully be offset by separate commentaries by professional drummers.

Subjects' weekly music listening ranged from 2 to 22 hours, with a median of 11 hours.

÷.,.



Subject Profile Overview

Figure 5.1: Profile of subjects participating in Experiments 1 and 2.

55

۲

The subjects' backgrounds in music listening taste are also quite varied. Subjects listened to a median of 5 different musical styles, and the distribution of listening varied as well: heavy metal was listened to by 4 subjects; rock, 8; alternative, 8; jazz, 6; classical, 8; blues, 1; funk, 2; dance/disco, 3; polka, 0; latin, 3; world, 4. These are suitable variations because SMED will be tested with scores from different musical genres.

Eighty-two percent of subjects see musical acts at least once yearly, with a median of 2 acts and a mean of 3.8 acts. Forty-five percent of subjects take an active interest in watching drummers. This is a suitable mix of interest to test whether SMED is useful independent of a subject's exposure to visual musical performance.

Most subjects were found to have little or no experience in dance or creating animation. This is not a significant problem because the medium of animation has a wide appeal and, like music and other arts, does not require a technical background for interpretation to occur. However, more experience in dance or animation among subjects might have provided more appreciation of a high-level animation tool and a more technical vocabulary for critiquing the movement and articulating their interpretations.

Clearly, one of the most significant biases of the group is the high level of computing experience. Such a group would be more experienced than a random sample with using both simple and complex user interfaces. Although the subjects would likely find the GUI of SMED simple, such background could be beneficial because subjects have experience with other user interfaces with which the UI of SMED could be compared. Such a group would also have a greater understanding of the kinds of tasks which can readily be achieved in computing, and could suggest logical, feasible extensions to the system.

To summarize, the subjects have a varied background in musical performance and listening tastes, which provides a spectrum of viewpoints from which to interpret musical performance; a generally minimal background in dance and animation, which may not provide subjects with a technical vocabulary to describe the movement; and a solid background in computing, which should provide a foundation for logical suggestions to improve the system.

•7
5.2 Experiment 1: Interpretation

5.2.1 Purpose

This experiment was designed to test SMED's ability to model expressive movements which can be interpreted and *differentiated* among different kinematic and musical styles.

57

Each subject watched five scores played with five kinematic settings, for a total of 25 performances. The subject was asked to describe the performance in "free words," and in terms of a musical style, if possible. Each subject described which performance styles were most suited to particular drumming scores. The subject's opinion of the kinematics of performance in different musical genres (independent from the animations) was also recorded,

5.2.2 Environment

Testing was done in the SFU Graphics and Multimedia Research Lab Since that was the location of the computer (a 200 MHz SGI Indigo² High Impact) which could run SMED. Thus, subjects were not in a particularly isolated environment.

A single audio kit was used for all performances. Some audio processing techniques and drum timbres lend themselves to certain musical styles. For example, richly reverberated sounds are commonly heard in rock and heavy metal, while gated sounds are often found in dance music. The samples used were simple, dry (unprocessed) samples for maximum usability across musical styles.

It may be argued with some validity that playing the audio track will influence a subject's interpretation of the performance. However, the goal of SMED is to create expressive movement for a given musical score. To disembody the movement from the music would be to remove the animation from the context in which it was created. Interpretation of live musical performance invariably includes the music produced, and so it makes sense to test a simulation of musical performance in the same manner.

The subjects were not allowed to see the frequency and amplitude controls of the interface so that they would not be aware of how the movement was modelled. Also, score filenames were generic so that no textual clues were given about the genre of the music. For example "style1.score" was used to name a file instead of "blues.score." The subjects were allowed to control of the point of view in the 3D scene.



Users were provided with a word list to help stimulate thought and induce descriptions about the score. The word list was: laid back, forced, fluid, stiff, groovy, chunky, uncontrolled, finessed, demonstrative, excited, disinterested, sporadic, melancholic, peppy, and angry.

The frequency of the neck and back movements were not varied in this experiment and automated variations to head bobbing were not used since these features had not been implemented at the time of experiment.

5.2.3 Test Data Set

Five contrasting scores from different genres were used. (Note that rhythms contained in the named genre are not necessarily exclusive to that genre.) Table 5.1 shows the classification of the scores.

Score	Genre
1	Blues
2	Funk 🔪
3	Rock
4	Jazz/Swing
5	Jazz/Latin

Table 5.1: Styles of tested scores for Experiment 1.

Each score was played with kinematic settings which are shown in Figure 5.2 and described in Table 5.2.

5.2.4 Process

The subject's interpretations of 25 SMED-generated musical performances were recorded as follows:





Setting	Quality of Movement
1	The low amplitude gain creates a subdued motion across all three arm joints. The
	wrist receives a realistic proportion of the amplitude gain. Low neck amplitude
	contributes to passive motion.
2	The high wrist amplitude combined with high amplitude gain across all arm joints
	creates a notably wrist-biased movement. The high frequency gain adds a crisp
	"snapping" motion in arm joints. Moderate head bobbing and back movements are
	created by the corresponding neck and back amplitudes.
3	This setting creates a dramatic movement with high elbow and shoulder amplitudes,
	in addition to heavy head-bobbing by the high neck and back amplitudes (relative
	to neck and back levels in other settings). The high frequency gain provides a strong
	"snap" to all arm joints.
. 4	This setting combines moderate head bobbing, very little back movements, and a
	smooth, wrist-biased arm movement.
5	Although the shoulder amplitude is relatively low, its combination with a high am-
	plitude gain across all arm joints creates a dramatic shoulder and wrist biased move-
	ment. Relatively high back amplitude and low neck amplitude causes the figure to
	sweep the entire upper body and head to the beat.

Table 5.2: Descriptions of kinematic settings for Experiment 1.

For each score

Play animated score with each of the 5 different kinematic settings. For each score/setting combination

Ask subject: What style of drumming does this movement look like? (Describe in other words if you cannot pin it down to

a particular genre.)

Why?

After playing a score with the different kinematic settings: Ask subject: What style best fits the given score? Why?

The subject's personal opinion of the kinematics of performance in different musical genres is recorded as follows:

For each style (blues, funk, hard rock, jazz, latin)

Ask subject: What types of movement characterize this style?

5.2.5 Analysis

Interpretation with Free Words

Figures B.3 and B.4 show the subjects' comments for the five performances of each of the five scores. With so few scores and kinematic settings, it is difficult to draw statistically significant conclusions. But a qualitative analysis of the descriptions clearly shows that the kinematic settings affected each subjects' interpretation of the performance of the same score. For example, consider the cell containing the comments for Subject 10, Score 1. As the kinematic settings changed, the perceived style changed from blues to jazz to alternative to classical to rock, with corresponding changes in the continued descriptions of the movements.

61

Subjects were allowed to describe the movement in their own words if they could not describe a performance according to a particular musical style. Fifty-six percent of subjects used four or more different "style words" to differentiate among the performances. This leaves 44 percent who used three or fewer style words, but by no means were these subjects incapable of such differentiation. Their interpretations (and differences in interpretations) can be noted by their free word descriptions. For example, Subject 7 used no style words, but differentiated among the five performances using words such as "unenthusiastic," "laid back," "natural," "jerky," "stiff," and "energetic."

Sometimes performances seemed similar to one another and subjects were heard to make comments that it was difficult to articulate a description of the movement. Nonetheless, most performances were successful in conveying a distinct kinematic style.

Interpretation with Musical Genres

It is not necessary to find a consensus in the subjects' interpretations, but trends may provide some evidence that SMED is effective as a tool to communicate through movement.

The 5 by 5 setting/score chart (Figures B.1 and B.2) reorganizes the the subjects' descriptions of each performance, grouping all subjects' comments of a given 'performance (setting/score combination) in a given cell. The 5 by 5 setting/score chart (Figure 5.3) shows how often particular musical styles were referenced in the subjects' descriptions of each performance. If a style is mentioned in a positive association (e.g. "very JAZZY") or in combination with another style (e.g. "ROCK/FUNK mix"), one is added to the count of each mentioned style. (Style words which had a positive association to the score were changed to upper case (e.g. "very JAZZY") and negative associations were left in lower



case (e.g. "not very jazzy") to help automate the analysis of the data.)

Figure 5.3: Cumulative result of musical style words used in subjects' descriptions of performances. Legend: m = metal; r = rock; a = alternative; j = jazz; c = classical; b = blues; f = funk; d = disco; p = polka; l = latin; w = world.

Inspection of the bar chart reveals that different kinematic settings of the same score were successful in producing different interpretations among performances. There were also trends in the interpretation of some performances. For the purposes of simplifying analysis, heavy metal, rock, and alternative will be grouped together (herein called *Group A*), while jazz, classical, and blues will be grouped together (herein called *Group B*).

Note that such a grouping is not entirely arbitrary. One only needs to look at the organization of a record store, or the format of a radio station or the demographics of its target audience to understand that there is an association among these musical styles. Also, where subjects mentioned a style from Group A to describe a performance, such as "demonstrative," "pronounced," and "dramatic" prevailed. Where subjects mentioned a style from Group B, the description was often accompanied by words such as "stiff," "disinterested," and "laid back."

Inspection of Figure 5.3 reveals that kinematic Settings 3 and 5 caused a clear majority of performances being interpreted as a style from Group A, and kinematic Settings 1 and 4 elicited more interpretations referencing styles from Group B for most scores. It can be seen

from Figure 5.2 that Settings 3 and 5 included higher amplitudes of the neck, elbow and shoulders than those of Settings 1 and 4. These higher amplitudes create head bobbing and demonstrative motions associated with styles in Group A, and the lower amplitudes create more subtle motions associated with styles in Group B. These associations are supported by the subjects' independent comments about their perception of the performance styles of particular musical genres (see Figure B.7 showing user/style descriptions). Rock, from Group A, was described as "explosive," "uncontrolled," and having "wild head and arm movements." Blues and jazz, from Group B, were each described as "laid back" and "fluid."

Kinematic Setting 2 did not seem to create a consensus to a particular style across all scores. Score 1, predominately blues based, was interpreted mostly as a blues score with Setting 2. The interpretations of the other scores varied among the remaining styles, with rock and jazz receiving the most votes.

Voting for Best Performance

Subjects were asked to choose which of the five performances best reflected each score. Figure 5.4 graphically shows the cumulation of votes. Figure B.5 in the Appendix contains the raw voting results. Setting 2 received more votes as the most appropriate kinematic setting than any other setting for every score.

One may question why Setting 2 was consistently perceived to be the best performance style when other settings achieved more consensus as to the kinematic style of a given performance. This may be explained as follows: Setting 2 represents a "middle-of-the-road" kinematic setting. Subjects may prefer to "fence-sit" when *evaluating* the score. The other kinematic settings may be caricatures of the performances of their associated musical styles and thus be successful in achieving consensus in *interpretation* through a stereotype.

There were few votes for styles such as dance/disco, funk, polka, latin, and world. This could be accounted for by the comparatively lower interest in these music styles among subjects (see Figure 5.1) and to the inherent rhythms in the drum scores.

Summary

۵.

Having categorized the data into two main style groups (A and B), one should be careful not to reduce SMED's expressive range down to a passive/aggressive dichotomy. The purpose of this categorization was to simplify the analysis and to expose trends in a relatively

Ľ,



Figure 5.4: Each cell contains a black bar representing the number of votes attributed to the kinematic setting as being the most appropriate for the score. The grey extension of the bar represents the number of times the kinematic setting was voted second best.

Performance Preferences for 5 Scores

small sample. One may argue that one cannot avoid the dichotomy since each kinematic parameter is a scalar within a one-dimensional high/low scale. However, a given setting and the rhythmic and dynamic information from the score create a gestalt which cannot be so easily linearized. One only needs to refer to the descriptions of the performances (Figures B.1 and B.2) to see how the interpretations vary, with phrases such as "subdued," "habitual," "getting into it," "tired," "showing off," "deliberate," "efficient," and "looks like he should have a tie and suit."

5.3 Experiment 2: Expression

5.3.1 Purpose

This experiment tested the usability and effectiveness of SMED as a high-level animation tool and determined both efficiencies and shortcomings of the interface. Each subject was asked to use SMED to create performance animations which best "expressed" the musical content for five contrasting scores.

5.3.2 Environment

The same environment was used for Experiments 1 and 2, except that the subjects were shown how to use the frequency and amplitude controls for Experiment 2.

5.3.3 Test Data Set

Five contrasting scores from different genres were used. (Note that patterns contained in the named genre are not necessarily exclusive to that genre. Also note that these are different scores from those used in Experiment 1). Table 5.3 shows a possible classification of the scores.

Score	Genre
1	Jazz
2	Blues
3	Latin
4	Funk
5	Rock (Twist)

66

Table 5.3: Styles of tested scores for Experiment 2.

5.3.4 Process

For each score

Ask subject: Use the UI of SMED to create a performance that best reflects the score.

Time subject.

Ask subject: What types of movement characterize that style? Why did you choose the settings you used?

Ask subject:

Was the interface (i.e. the manipulation of freq/amp of joint angles)

an intuitive method for the creation of expression?

Was the interface sufficient for the creation of expression? Any additional suggestions/comments?

5.3.5 Analysis

Timing

We will call a subject's use of the UI to create an animation for a given score a *task*. The task number is not necessarily the same as the score number denoted above. The subjects' timing information is shown in Table 5.4 and visualized as a bar chart in Figure 5.5.

The mean time to complete each task decreased for each successive task from Tasks 1 through 4. This is what one would expect as subjects would become more familiar with the interface and understand the effects of the individual controls.

However, the average time to complete Task 5 was over 15 seconds than that of Task



Completion Times of 5 Successive Tasks for 11 Subjects

67

Figure 5.5: The height of each bar represents the amount of time for the subject to complete the task.

£

· ·			Task	· · · ·	
Subject	1	2	3	. 4	5
1	1.5	2.0	1.0	0.8	2.0
2	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
3	4.0	1.7	1.6	1.6	4.3
4	1.0	3.0	2.5	2.6	2.6
5	4.0	3.0	2.0	2.5	2.0
6	4.0	3.0	2.5	1.5	1.7
7	7.0	2.5	2.0	2.7	1.8
8	6.0	4.0	2.0	2.0	1.7
9	4.0	3.5	4.0	2.5	n.a.
10	3.0	1.5	2.0	1.3	2.0
11	3.0	3.5	1.3	2.0	2.5
Mean	3.75	2.77	2.09	1.95	2.29

68

Table 5.4: Task completion times in minutes for Experiment 2.

4. Most of the subjects were given Score 1, the jazz score, as their fifth task. Other scores were pattern-based and more regular, whereas Score 1 was fairly "open" and unrepetitive in its style. This may have provided some difficulty for subjects to anticipate the rhythm and thus find an appropriate setting. Subject 5, a fairly experienced musician and active music listener, commented that he/she "...didn't get a clear mood off the music so it was difficult to capture the mood [using the kinematic controls]." Therefore, in order to help subjects learn to manipulate the UI, this relatively difficult score was given as the last task to all other subjects.

To consider how the score influenced completion times, note Table 5.5 which organizes completion times according to score. The order in which scores were assigned to tasks is shown in Table 5.6.

One can see from the task/score chart that scores tended to be worked on in the following order: 2, 3, 4, 5, 1. From the Song Completion Times chart, it can be seen that the mean time to complete these scores decreases: 3.35, 2.82, 2.29, and 1.90 minutes for Scores 2 through 5. The mean time to complete Score 1 is 2.51 minutes. This may be a lower mean than others since subjects would be more familiar with the controls, but may be higher than other means due to the musical complexity of this score.

Once a user has become familiar with the controls, the complexity of the score would be

P		•			
		2	Score		· · · ·
Subject	1 .	2	° 3	4	5
1	2.0	1.5	2.0	1.0	0.8
2	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
3	, 4.3	4.0	• 1.7	×1.6	1.6
4	2.6	2.5	1.0	3.0	2.6
. 5. `	4.0	3.0	2.0	2.5	. 2.0
6	1.7	4.0	3.0	2.5	1.5
. 7	1.8	7.0	$^{\circ}2.5$	2.0	2.7
8	. 1.7	2.0	6.0	4.0	2.0
9	n.a.	4.0	4.0	3.5	2.5
10	2.0 ∶	2.0	3.0	1.5	1.3
11	2.5	3.5	\$.0	1.3	2.0
Mean	2.1	3.35	2.82	2.29	1.90

69

Table 5.5: Song completion times in minutes for Experiment 2.

more of a factor in how difficult it will be to create an appropriate animation.

Foreword to User Interface Discussion

The following sections discuss the subjects' manipulation of the user interface. Figure 5.6 illustrates where the interface values are obtained in order to clarify interpretation of the graphs. A UI setting simply refers to a value on one of the sliders of the interface. An effective UI setting refers to the net effect of all of the UI settings on a particular joint. For example, if the amplitude gain is 75 and the wrist-amplitude is 60, the effective wrist amplitude is 0.75*60 = 45. (UI settings are percentages.) Effective UI settings are discussed in order to compare the kinematic result from manipulating the UI. Raw UI settings are discussed to determine how subjects interacted with the interface.

For each score, the subject sets each UI control to some level in the range from 0 to 100. Means and standard deviations will be discussed, but these values are meaningless if no kinematic association about a value can be made. A number of screen shots have been blended to provide an example of the "visual significance" of changing an amplitude by a relatively small amount. Figure 5.7 shows a difference in amplitude for the back; Figure 5.8, the neck; Figure 5.9, the shoulder; Figure 5.10, the elbow; Figure 5.11, the wrist.

is difficult to be effective in graphically representing the changes in the frequency



Figure 5.6: Relationship between graphs and UI.

£	[Score		
Subject	1	2	3	4	5'
. 1	, 2	3	4	+ 5	1
2	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
3	2	3	4	5	1
4	3	4	2	5	1
5 .	1	2	.3	4	5
6	2	3	4,	5	1
7	2	3	4	5	1
8	3	4	5	' 2	1
9	3	4	2	5	n.a.
10.	3	4	2	5	1 '
11	3.	2	° 4 .	5	1

Table 5.6: Association of tasks to scores for Experiment 2.

controls because the effect of such controls is temporal. Joint angle plots could be shown, but it may not be enough to illustrate a significant change in the frequency. Also note that a difference of 5 and 10 in the wrist amplitude may be more (or less) visually significant than the difference between 55 and 60. Again, it is difficult to show such differences as effectively on paper as could be done with an animated demonstration. The discussed figures attempt to provide some visual context for the ensuing discussion and volumes of data.

Consensus of UI Settings for Scores

The settings for each of the five edited scores were stored for each subject. Figure 5.12 groups the settings by score. The means and standard deviations of each cell are illustrated in Figures 5.13 and 5.14 respectively, in order to visually expose general preferences and consenses.

Some of the data suggests that the score influenced each subject in a similar mander. Score 1, a light jazz score, received the lowest mean amplitude in each of the back, neck, wrist, and shoulder joints, and had the second lowest mean elbow amplitude. This is a notable indication that users responded to the light style by expressing the score with subtle movements. Score 4, a funk score, received the highest neck, back, elbow, and shoulder amplitudes. Here, the busy, high-energy score elicited more demonstrative performances from subjects.



.72

Figure 5.7: Illustration of a difference of back amplitude of 8. The black figure is at the forward limit of a sway for a back amplitude of 10; the grey figure, 2.



Figure 5.8: Illustration of a difference of neck amplitude of 15. The black figure is at the bottom limit of a head bob for a neck amplitude of 20; the grey figure, 35.



73

Figure 5.9: Illustration of a difference of shoulder amplitude of 5. The dark arm is at the height of preparation of a swing for a shoulder amplitude of 5; the light arm, 10.



Figure 5.10: Illustration of a difference of elbow amplitude of 5. The dark forearm is at the height of preparation of a swing for an elbow amplitude of 5; the light forearm, 10.



-74

Figure 5.11: Illustration of a difference of wrist amplitude of 10. The dark hand is at the height of preparation of a swing for a wrist amplitude of 15; the light hand, 5.

Score 2, a slow blues score, received a similarly low shoulder amplitude as the jazz score. However, the neck amplitude is very high (at 26.1) relative to other scores such as that of rock (at 18.5). This curious result may be explained by the fact that the tempo of the score affects the rate of oscillation of the neck. The slow tempo of the blues score would allow the neck to sink deeper and still move slowly, while the same amplitude on the rock score would result in an exaggerated head-banging motion.

Even though such general trends exist, the standard deviations (Figure 5.14) show that subjects were not in complete agreement as to how each score should be kinematically expressed. All but 3 of the 40 standard deviations are greater than 5, meaning that each setting in a group of settings lies within approximately 5 units above or below the mean for \sim that group. Such differences are visually significant, as shown in Figures 5.7 through 5.11.

Effect of Score on Subject

Figure 5.15 groups the effective UI settings by subject and illustrates how individual subjects manipulated the interface. The mean for each subject's effective settings is shown in Figure 5.16 and the corresponding standard deviation in Figure 5.17.

Comparing the means of effective UI settings among subjects only reflects personal preferences or biases within a subject, and does not state anything about the effectiveness of SMÉD. However, it can be clearly seen from Figure 5.16 that wrist amplitudes are relatively



Interaction Between Effective ULSettings (for 11 Subjects) and Score

75

Cell contents show effective settings for 11 users.

Figure 5.12: Interaction between effective UI settings and score.



Interaction Between Mean of Effective UI Settings (for 11 Subjects) and Score

76



- 4



Interaction Between Standard Deviation of Effective UI Settings (for 11 Subjects) and Score

77

Figure 5.14: Interaction between standard deviations of effective UI settings and score. Standard deviations in amplitude as low as 5 can have visually significance.



Interaction Between Effective UI Setting and Score

78

Figure 5.15: Effective UI settings grouped by control and subject.

Interaction Betwen Mean of Effective UI Settings (for 5 Scores), and Subject

100 21.6 12.2 13.4 11.2 22.0 14.2 10.4 12.6 8.6 13.6 14.2 amp back 100 13.8 17.6 27.0 14.6 16.8 22.8 18.0 34.0 18.0 24.4 24:4 amp neck 100 31.9 33.9 21.7 25.3 26.7 20.9 28.2 28.0 21.6 19.8 57.2 amp wrist Ŀ 9.7 13.2 100 -18.5 8.2 9.9 11.7 12.8 10.4 3.9 10.2 5.5 amp elbow 100 6.7 9.7 12.9 17.3 16.7 9.6 7.4 14.5 13.1 9.1 16.5 amp shoulder 26.0 18.4 21.2 100 36.7 18.4 19.6 20.4 7.8 41.0 15.6 25.8 freq wrist **UI Control** · | 32.8 10.6 19.7 14.7 17.0 21.3 100 14.1 18.3 12.7 18.7 16.5 freq elbow 31.2 19.9 15.2 100 freq shoulder 6.5 -18.7 17.2 24.3 21.9 12.6 12.4 22.7 6 7 8 9 10 11 1 2 3 4、 5 Subject

Figure 5.16: Interaction between mean of effective UI settings and subject.

CHAPTER 5. USER EVALUATION

بو		(for 5	Scores) and S	Subject		Jevian	UIIS OI	Enecu ,		Ĵe (III)E	,* ,*
amp back	100 ~	10.3	2.2	2.6	6.2	10.9	6.3	3.9	8.0	4.8	15.9	10.0
amp_neck	100 -	11.8	11.0	4.8	12.3	9.8	9.3	3.7	7.6	14.8	22.9	11.5
amp wrist	100 -	7.4	5.2	9.1	10.2	22.9	13.6	15.0	14.4	12.2	14.8	10.6
amp elbow	10 0 -	9.9	7.8	7.8	5.0	11.6	4.0	8.6	4.8	2.9	9.4	3.5
amp shoulder	100 - F	7.1	5.7	9.5	6.1	4.3	11.0	4.9	11.4	11.4	12.2	6.7
freq wrist	100 -	12.4	30.0	8.4	16.9	11.1	5.3	8.4	9.9	12.1	10.0	11.8
treq elbow	100 - -	11.8	9.3	10.2	11.9	10.1	5.5	8.2	16.3	10.5	16.1	7.1
freq shoulder	100'-	9.2	э 7.7	4.7	11.9	11.0	5.4	13.5	23.3	11.6	18.2	7.1
•	0	1	2	3	4	ź 5	6	 7	8	9	10	11
			Subject	21								

80

Figure 5.17: Interaction between standard deviations of effective UI settings and subject.

* higher than elbow and shoulder amplitudes. This variation in amplitude shows that subjects perceived typical drumming movements as having a proportionally greater amount of movement in the wrists than in the elbows and shoulders. This observation is supported by descriptions of proper drumming technique [8].

81

The standard deviations of the UI settings shown in Figure 5.17 provide an indication of the amount of variation of effective setting levels. Eight of the eleven back amplitudes had a standard deviation of at least 4.8 units about the mean. Consider the range from 4.8 units below the mean to 4.8 units above the mean. This is a difference of 9.6 units, more than the difference depicted in Figure 5.7, showing that those eight subjects made visually significant changes to the kinematic result of the back when the score changed.

Likewise, all but two of the neck amplitude settings had a standard deviation from 7.6 to 22.9. Even a standard deviation of 7.6 would have differences of 15.2 in the neck amplitude, approximately the difference depicted in Figure 5.8.

Similarly, the standard deviations of the effective shoulder, elbow, and wrist amplitudes represent noticeable changes, as supported by Figures 5.9, 5.10, and 5.11.

It is difficult to discuss changes in the frequency settings without some visual context. However, it should be noted that the frequency settings have less effect for scores with quick sequences of notes than for those with longer notes and rests. This is because the frequencies of the wrist, elbow, and shoulder are automatically increased if it is necessary to keep up with the score. Thus, changing a frequency setting may sometimes have no noticeable effect and may not be an intuitive kinematic control.

Manipulation of the UI

The raw UI settings and changes from the default settings are illustrated in Figure 5.18. This chart shows that the frequency gain was increased more than twice as many times as it was decreased. This means that subjects desired a faster stroke in most styles. The amplitudes used for the neck and back were found in a fairly narrow range. These results suggest that the controls should be recalibrated so that unusable ranges are removed, the remaining range is appropriately scaled, and the default settings are changed to be closer to values typically used.

The standard deviations of the raw UI settings are shown in Figure 5.19. This chart may be misleading in showing the amount of kinematic variation among the performances. For example, the standard deviation for the raw elbow amplitude is greater for Subject 2

					, .	>	•						
	amp back	100 -	يالية	· -		5		<u>مت الم</u>	` _			-ul	
	amp néck	100 -	علم	عىبات	الثلاب		<u>چام</u>	ш.	على ال	عليت	، الل		عنا
\$	amp wrist	100 -	_لد	است.	البل	, phr	щ	ᆎ	<u> </u>	Ţr	Jul	┺	<u>llı</u>
` *	amp elbow	1010 -	¶*-	THE STREET	┰╇	יק וי י		لسلت	η'n	-गग	TIT	-10-	गम्
. 3	amp shoulder	100 -	T	-J ^{RM} T	т " п	ाण	ाणम्	┶╋	-गुग	╶╁╸	րո	- -	-111 ⁺ -
	amp gain	1010 -			π	╺╾┺	╖╹ ┓	T	┸╺┺			ŢŢ	тт
	freq wrist	100 - ¥	- 1 14	, T	. لېلا		₽₽		·	-th-			1.
ntrol	freqelbow	rfku -		т	╶╥╨ݷ	ਾ	-ANg			Ъ	11		. -¶T -
UI Cor	freq shoulder	100 -	*•∎-	—	ाण	-T	11		- I		-म-	. . 11 e. ,	7 1
	freq gain	100 - 100 -	llui	ų	Τ	11	┰┻┓	T-	41	T	<u>nn</u>	<u>I</u> L,	
	تعیم ۲ ۰		12345 . 1	2 Şubjec	3 ct	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
	Cell contents show UI settings for 5 scores.												

Interaction Between UI Setting and Score (With Respect to Default Setting Level), Grouped by Subject

Figure 5.18: Kinematic settings grouped by control and score, illustrating deviation from default setting.

	amp back	100 -	10.3	2.2	2.6	6.2	10.9	6.3	3.9	8.0	4.8	15.9	10.0
	amp neck	100 -	11.8	11.0 '	4.8	12.3	9.8	9.3	3.7	7.6	14.8	22.9	11.5
	. 4	100									-		
	amp wrist	100 -	18.7	9.4	15.6	8.1	26.8	, 24.7	17.6	28.9	10.5	23.0	16.0
	3	100 -	_				!	╞╌╴┛╴		<u>.</u>			
	amp elbow		12. 9	15.2	12.5	5.1	22.5	8.2	15.8	9.6	3.3	13.5	10.3
	, ·	100 -							<u> </u>			ţ	
	amp shoulder		8.8	12 3	. 16.5	6.1	6.0	18.7	10.0	22.5	10.3	21.4	13.6
		100				·							
	amp gain		9 .5	4.5	14.7	20.0	26.2	9,3	12.9	0.0	22.1	27.4	ľ0.1
	r	100 -											
	freq wrist		14.9	23.8	22.6	27.2	21.9	4.2	2.8	20.2	21.4	19.2	22.9
' .		100 -						·					
0	freg elbow		19.1	14.3	15.6	13.6	9.6	2.4	4,4	30.2	10.7	13.3	12.5
ntr	. 10	100 -		. I		·							
ပိ	freq shoulder	T	10.2	9.5	7.3	13.6	13.9	1.8	7.2	43.1	- 11.4 °	10.7.	13.6
5	·												
	freq gain	าย ซ	6.7	32.3	14.7	22.0	27.0	15.6	27.9	18.3	18.2	27.8	8.5
•		<u>,</u>											
			1	2	3	4.	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
4				Subjec	t	,				-	-		
	•												•

Interaction Between Standard Deviation of UI Settings (for 5 Scores) and Subject 83

Figure 5.19: Standard deviations of subjects' raw UI settings.

than for Subject 1, but the standard deviation for the *effective* elbow amplitude is greater for Subject 1, as shown in Figure 5.17. This discrepancy is due to the variation of the amplitude gain, which is a factor in determining the effective elbow amplitude, not the raw elbow amplitude.

84

Evaluation of the User Interface

Subjects were asked to rate the intuitiveness of the SMED UI on a scale from 1 to 5, where a rating of 1 meant "very difficult to use;" 2, "not very intuitive;" 3, "sometimes intuitive, sometimes awkward;" 4, "intuitive, with some more practice;" 5, "very intuitive, with little practice" (for raw data, see Appendix B). Eight subjects found the UI intuitive or very intuitive, and the other three found it sometimes intuitive, sometimes awkward. This relatively positive rating may be biased by the subjects' relatively high level of experience in computing, and thus being able to easily grasp interfaces which are not particularly intuitive. However, the subjects' exposure to other interfaces would provide a solid foundation on which to make such an evaluation.

Subjects were asked to rate the range of expressions producible with SMED on a scale of 1 to 5 where a rating of 1 meant "couldn't do anything expressive at all;" 2, "very limited in its range of expression" 3, "can only make a couple of expressions;" 4, "can make a useful array of expressions;" 5, "can make any expressive movement."

Eight of the subjects found that it was possible to make a useful array of expressive performances, while the remaining three found that only a few were possible. The latter three represented all but one of the subjects who had some experience in animation. Perhaps this experience lent a more critical eye in judging the scope of SMED.

Suggested Improvements

Subjects were asked open-ended questions to allow them to freely suggest improvements to the UI. Some improvements were independently suggested by more than one subject. Three subjects wrote that the wrist, elbow, and shoulder amplitude and frequency controls should not be constrained.

Some subjects felt that more kinematic variation was needed within a given performance. Two subjects suggested that the UI sliders should be animated so that kinematic settings automatically change during playback of the score. This way, different phrases or larger

sections of the score could be performed with different kinematic styles. One subject suggested that individual drums have different amplitudes so that a hit on a snare would have a different amplitude than that on a hihat, for instance. This feature would be helpful if the volumes of the samples were not appropriately scaled to the MIDI velocity information, if the MIDI velocity information were not properly calibrated among the different drums, or if different instruments of a drum kit were played with different amounts of force.

Other subjects suggested additional degrees of freedom for motion control. The most popular suggestion was the addition of more neck movements (by four subjects). One can easily see from drummers such as Kenny Aronoff [5] that neck movements can be complex. Other movement suggestions included controls for torso rotation speed, the standing/seated posturing of the drummer, and "wing" motion in the arms. A few subjects suggested movements such as spinning drums sticks or tossing them in the air. These embellishments would add to the character of the animation and provide visual interest.

Suggestions for other aspects of the UI included a loop function to help view specific portions of the score while manipulating the controls, recalibration of the controls, and a graph correlating the score and the plot of the joint angles.

Adding new degrees of freedom may affect the computational complexity of the drumming, and may require a review of the currently assumed geometric constraints. Also, it is important that added features do not significantly affect the frame rate nor the interactivity of the program.

5.4 An Informal Study

A video of SMED was shown at Tom Lee Music, Vancouver, after a drum clinic in order to get feedback from drummers. Because the UI of the system could not be interactively demonstrated, this informal study was used to get feedback about the realism of the motion, the expressiveness of the movement, and the viability of SMED as a tool in music education (Figure 5.20).

The results (Figure 5.21) showed that respondents thought that the movement was somewhat realistic or realistic, somewhat expressive or very expressive, and that SMED would be somewhat useful or very useful as a music education tool. Although only a small number of responses were obtained, the results are encouraging, especially considering that all of the respondents were either professional or stude... t drummers.



86

Figure 5.20: Questionnaire presented to student and professional drummers at Tom Lee Music, Vancouver.





87

Figure 5.21: Results of questionnaire. Six student and professional drummers responded.

5.5 Future Studies

A number of improvements could be made for a more formal study of the effectiveness of a system such as SMED. Experiment 1 could be made easier for subjects by providing a series of adjectives and scales of one through seven on which to evaluate a performance. Experiment 1 was particularly time-consuming as subjects searched for the "right words" to describe each of the 25 performances. Also, more subjects should be tested. This would help to bring about results with more statistical significance. Ideally, there would be three subgroups: animators, drummers, and people with no experience in animation or drumming. Differences due to such experience could then be examined. One group may wish to have more detailed editing of the movement, whereas another group may wish to have yet higherlevel control. Even within groups, subgroups may want different controls, such as drumming students versus drumming teachers. These results would then shape how SMED would continue to be developed, since a different application may require a different approach to the control of the movement.

5.6 Summary

To summarize, Experiment 1 found that the kinematic settings were successful in influencing the subjects' perception of the kinematic expression. Certain kinematic settings notably influenced the subjects' perception towards two distinct groups of musical styles. The kinematic setting which did not have strong influence was chosen as the best setting across all scores. Its kinematic proportions were not extreme, resulting in realistic motion which had a broad appeal across musical styles.

Experiment 2.showed that subjects found the user interface intuitive, and that a limitedto-usable range of expressive kinematic styles were producible. The amount of practice and complexity of the score seemed to affect the times to complete tasks. Most importantly, it was shown that subjects were active in changing both primary and secondary movements to kinematically express contrasting drum scores.

These results show that the goals of this thesis have been met because:

- SMED was successful in eliciting different interpretations from subjects with *different* kinematic settings of the *same* score, and .
- SMED provides a usable framework to specify kinematic expression in musical scores.

However, there are some alterations that could improve SMED. New degrees of freedom for the neck and arms would allow for a greater expressive kinematic range. Local control of the animation would allow kinematic changes to mark phrases and reflect *changing* expression in the score. Unconstraining the wrist, elbow, and shoulder controls would provide more direct control of the movement. Phase control would allow the strike keyframes to exist at different times for the wrist, elbow, and shoulder joints and add a sinuous motion to the basic stroke. Finally, controls should be recalibrated and have individual default values to provide a better "starting place" and range of control for users.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

With a solid foundation for modelling drummers, the question quickly arises as to how to model other musicians. The research from SMED raises a number of points which should be considered when modelling the performance for any instrument:

¥

- The encoding of the score is a fundamental aspect regarding what can be modelled. While MIDI is the most common digital protocol for the storage of musical notation, it may not be suitable for storing performance data for certain musical instruments. Kinematic elements which are to be modelled automatically by the system should be encodable, implicitly or explicitly, in the chosen format. Also, the encoding should be carefully considered if the modelling system may be extended to interact with other systems.
- The primary movements to play the instrument should be carefully analysed and represented. For SMED, the basic stroke was represented with three keyframes. Other drumming movements, such as taps and brush movements could also be represented in a similar fashion.
- Secondary movements that characterize the instrument should also be identified. Drummers tend to bob their heads. Clarinetists tend to sway. Pianists may rest a single wrist if it is not playing, and reed players may move the instrument away from their mouth when not playing for eight measures.
- Consideration should be given to how the movements change with volume, pitch, timbre, duration, or other encoded aspects of the score. In SMED, keyframe values

were changed to change the size of the swing for onsets of different volumes. Changing the pitch (or in the case of SMED, the instrument) caused the body to face a different direction. For a piano, fingers will move differently for different pitches. Changing pitch can affect the location of the wrist, and hence the orientation of the hand and the kinematics of the fingers.

- Consideration should also be given to how the user affects the movements. How will the movement be parameterized? What controls will be given to the user?
- It is also important to determine the motion between onsets. The drummer's stroke lengths tend to shorten for a series of quick onsets (drum rolls). A pianist's wrist may lift high to mark a phrase.
- If the encoding does not include necessary *limb or finger assignments*, an algorithm must created to generated one, or such an assignment must be done manually.

SMED has shown that by thoughtfully addressing these points, simple modelling methods can be used to achieve realistic looking animation.

6.1 Future Work

Currently, the scores which SMED uses are generated in a separate environment, typically a MIDI sequencer. Integrating a score-design environment would allow scores to be interactively created and tested. Such an environment would be simpler and more appropriate than a fully-featured sequencer since it could be tailored for drum score editing.

SPAM, score visualization for piano using animation and MIDI [62], uses linear interpolation, has no effective finger assignment algorithm, and does not model movements above the pianist's wrist. The experience gained from modelling drumming could be applied to SPAM to create a better system for modelling piano playing.

One point of interest would be to create a fully-rendered animation strictly for artistic value. A more complex body model, drum kit, and environment could be designed in a commercial animation system. SMED could readily be modified to export joint angle information, and the performance could be complemented by other movements created under artistic direction.

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS

Facial animation has proven to be an important area of research for modelling human expression. Combining the kinematic expression of SMED with facial animation would provide for a higher level of expression in musical performance. Mapping musical elements to facial movements could prove to be challenging, but promises to have interesting results.

The head bobbing algorithm is effective for providing variation and visual interest. Other kinds of movement such as spinning the sticks and standing up could also be generated implicitly from timing information in the score. However, caution must be exercised when adding such movement. If such movement is not judiciously automated, the kinematics of the performance will be more of an "expression" of the programmer than of the animator.

6.2 Enfin

This thesis has addressed the problem of modelling expressive movement in human figure animation. In particular, the movements in musical performance have been considered, namely because of their inherently expressive nature. As previously stated, the goals of this thesis are to model the expressive movements of performing musicians, and to create . high-level tools to specify the kinematic animation of musical scores. The system SMED was implemented and proposed as a high-level tool to model the expressive movements of drummers.

SMED can process arbitrary MIDI-encoded drum scores and create an animation of a performance of that score. The user can affect the kinematic expression of the performance by manipulating the frequencies and amplitudes of the wrist, elbow, shoulder, neck, and back joints. Techniques such as inverse kinematics and dynamic simulation are avoided in order to save processing time and reduce the complexity of the simulation. Instead, a hybrid keyframing system is used, where some frames are calculated in advance, and others on the fly. The combination of forward kinematics, preprocessing of static keyframes, and CTB spline interpolation allows expressive, *realistic motion* and *real-time interaction* to be readily achieved.

Two experiments were employed in order to determine whether the goals were met. The first experiment determined that subjects were capable of differentiating among the kinematic expressions of the animation of SMED when the UI settings were changed and the score was held constant. The second experiment determined that subjects were able to use SMED to create an animation which reflected the musical content score.

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS

Certainly, the goals of this thesis have been met. SMED models the underlying kinematics of drummers for arbitrary modern drum scores, and it is a high-level tool that allows the kinematic expression of a drum score to be specified. SMED facilitates the control of kinematic expression by modelling both primary and secondary movements, and by providing user control of these movements in both time (frequency) and space (amplitude). Although not all aspects of drumming kinematics were addressed, the study showed that most subjects thought that a useful array of expressions could be modelled. Because the underlying system of SMED is kinematically based, it is readily extendible to accommodate new movements and additional degrees of freedom.
Appendix A

Survey Profile and Questionnaire

The subject profile and questionnaires for Experiments 1 and 2 were distributed as shown in the following sections.

A.1 Subject Profile

Profile

Please complete each question by circling your answer or providing a short answer where appropriate:

1. Are you a musician? Yes / No If so, which instrument? How many years have you played?

2. How many hours/minutes of music do you listen to each week? _____

What styles do you listen to? (circle all that apply)

- (a) heavy metal
 (b) rock
 (c) alternative
- (d) jazz (e) classical
- (f) blues (g) funk
- (h) dance/disco
- (i) polka
- (j) latin
- (k) world
- (1) other:

3. How many hours/minutes of music videos do you watch each week? _____

4. How many live musical acts do you see in a year?

5. Do you watch drummers live or on videos? Yes / No

6. What experience do you have with dancing?(a) none(b) bars(c) have taken lessons(d) major area of study/work

APPENDIX A. SURVEY PROFILE AND QUESTIONNAIRE

- 7. What experience do you have with creating animation?
- (a) none (b) hobby (c) have taken courses (d) major area of study/work 8. What experience do you have with computing?(a) none(b) hobby(c) have taken courses(d) major area of study/work

Experiment 1 $\mathbf{A.2}$

Questionnaire: Experiment #1

Please answer all questions on paper provided. If more room is required, please use back of page.

1. Five different drum scores will be played; for each, 5 different drumming performances will be shown (for a total of 25 performances).

For each performance, answer:

(a)	What	style	of	drumming	does	the	movement"	convey?	•
(b)	Why?	.		•	:			. •	

 $\mathbf{\mathcal{V}}$

DCOTI					
*	Performance (b) why?	،1:	(a)	style?	
•	Performance (b) why?	2:	(a)	style?	
	Performance (b) why?	3:	(a)	style?	
	Performance	4:	(a).	style?	
	Performance (b) why?	5:	(a)	style?	
Score	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
0001	Performance (b) why?	1:	(a)	style?	
	Performance (b) why?	2:	(a)	style?	
	Performance	3:	(a)	style?	
	Performance	4:	(a)	style?	
	(b) why?	5:	(a)	style?	
Score	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
DCOI	Performance	1:	(a)	style?	
	Performance	2:	(a)	style?	<u>4</u>
	Performance	3:	(a)	style?	
	Performance	4:	(a)	style?	
	Performance	5:	(a)	style?	
	(b) why?				

APPENDIX A. SURVEY PROFILE AND QUESTIONNAIRE

95

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1
Score 4	· (a) etvlo?			•
(b) why?	. (a) style.			
Performance 2	: (a) style?			
(b) why?				
Performance 3	: () style?			
(b) why?				
Performance 4	: (a) style?	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
(b) why?	·····	*		
Feriormance 5	: (a) style:			
Come E				
Performance 1	: (a) style?			
(b) why?'				
Performance 2	: (a) style?			
(b) why?				
Performance 3	: (a) style?			,
(b) Why?	<u>*-</u>			
(h) why?	: (a) Style:			'
Performance 5	: (a) style?		,	
(b) why? *				
			·	
2. For each score	, which perio	rmance style best i	its that score:	
Score 1 (a) best s	tyle:			
(b) why?			•	
Score 2 (a) Dest s	tyle:		•	
Score 3 (a) best s	 tvlo:			
(b) why?				
Score 4. (a) best s	tyle:			
(b) why?				
Score 5 (a) best s	tyle:			
(b) why?				
3. For each style	. what types	of movement charact	erize that style?	
Semia 1. [b]uan]	, mut tjptt		·	
Style 1: [Diues]				
Style 2: [funk]			,	
Style 3: [hard roc	k]			
			, 	
Style 5: [latin]				
Fnd of Experiment	 #1			

A.3 Experiment 2

Questionnaire: Experiment #2

1. Use the Figure Options controls in SMED to create a performance that

best expresses the score (in your opinion).
IMPORTANT: For each performance, be sure to store your Figure Options controls settings in the Figure Flags window.
JUST AS IMPORTANT: Once all songs have been finished, save your stored settings (Alt-"0", "S"), using the filename convention:
[loginid].drumstyle e.g. woodgain.drumstyle
[note: files were later renamed to hide identity.of subject. AWG]
Why did you choose the settings you used?
Score 1:
Score 2:
Score 3:
Score 4:
Score. 5:
3. Was the interface (i.e. the manipulation of frequency and amplitude . of joint angles) an intuitive method for the creation of expression?
(1) very difficult to use
(2) not very intuitive (3) sometimes intuitive, sometimes avkyard
(4) intuitive, with some more practice
(5) very intuitive, with little practice 3b. What would make the interface easier to use?
4. Was the interface sufficient for the creation of expression?
(1) couldn't do anything expressive at all
(3) can only make a couple of expressions
(4) can make a useful array of expressions (5) can make any expressive movement
4b. What kinds of movement did you want to create, but were not able to?
(please indicate which score too).
Ac What kinds of movement should be added or removed for to make the
movement more expressive, or to increase the "range" of expressions?
5. Any additional suggestions/comments?
End of Experiment #2

Appendix B

Raw Data

This appendix contains the raw data from Experiments 1 and 2. The complete subject, profile data is represented in Figure 5.1. The data has been grouped according to question to facilitate analysis.

B.1 Experiment 1

For Question 1, each subject was asked to describe the animation of five musical scores, each played with five different kinematic settings for a total of 25 performances. The 275 responses have been organized into Figures B.1 and B.2. Words which contain a positive association to a particular music genre are displayed in upper case.

The comments have been reorganized and grouped by subject in Figures B.3 and B.4 in order to facilitate the analysis of all comments of an arbitrary subject.

For Question 2, each subject was asked to indicate which kinematic setting (performance) was the most appropriate for each score and to explain why they chose a particular performance. Subjects were also asked to indicate a "close second best" if they felt one existed. The results of the best choice are shown in Figure B.5 and the reasons are shown in Figure B.6.

For Question 3, each subject was given the names of five musical genres as was asked to express his/her opinion about the kinds of movements found in such genres. The explanations are shown in Figure B.7.

- 5

			E Contraction of the second seco	
 € 1 € 	Perception of P	erformances Descr	ibed in Free Words	5 '
. 5 *	(page i OI 2) slow ROCK; it's ROCKy but slow ? from waist - moderate range - moderate arm amplitude JAZZy; urooving fluid CLASSICAL% low energy, low amplitude moderate ROCK, average motion throughout BLDES/CLASSICAL; controlled 'Charthusiastic, unnatural, too stiff in head and shichdast as opposed to torso e affine hack and erms look stiff and wrong hack and erms look stiff JAZZ; the body beat is JAZZy ALTERNATIVE;	WORLD (African); variety of arm mont more arm and head amplitude than 01 mellow ROCK, kinda groovy but not completely expressive JA22; don't know ALTERWATUYE; motion of head and neck LATTN, probably b/c it fits w/ score; torae rotating licbert, nutural; mvmts are probatic, nutural; mvmts are procession of the score; HOCK, full body motion in a fluid feahion, motion in head looks good w/that in torse looks right - good effort; effort matches music; so doas head bobbing ROCK; the body motion seema like ROCK ROCK; head swmts and aboulders	ROCK, long/short arm nwat lots of head amplitude and upper arm - hands are close to face aggressive ROCK, really long arm strokes ROCK, anthusisatic thresh-NBTAL; dramgtic head bobbing ROCK, torso rotation seems higher jerky; wmrdt are too big had mont stroke in the strokes had mont strokes are look arthritic, head mont jerk; arms look arthritic, head bobbing looks okay. AUTENANTUVE; the head digs down so low it looks like AUTENANTIVE heavy METAL; crazy mvmts, too excited	
4	<pre>Finny CLASSICAL, kinds mix finny CLASSICAL, kinds mix JAZay; small momts classICAL: stiff. low emergy babop-swing, the swinging of his back when alternating bien drumss JAZ2/RUZE; no heed momt, but fluid body mowt n c JAZ2; full rigid upper torso momt (no asperste head momt) a blt stiff - looks mors 'right' when the music spedde up, not enough mownt at JAZ2; head momt of ficient JAZ2; head momt of ficient JAZ2; head momt at fictient cLASSICAL or BLUES; a little stiff and too precise</pre>	BOCK: again arm mwnt JAZZ-FURM: rhythm w/ Ride cymbal (very JAZZ) - solo ures lots of cymbal - ayncopation [] BUJES; fluid and finessed BUJES; don't know FUMK; drummer' James Brown ROCK: hes' kicking [butt] - raminds me of 'TUMKy drummer' James Brown ROCK; hesd mwnt damonstrative, fluid leid-back; matural mwnt a bit more JAZZ y than], again upper torso mwnt but slight head mwnt makes torso mwnt but slight head mwnt makes torso mwnt but slight head mwnt makes torso mwnt but slight head mvnt makes torso arm but slight head mvnt makes torso arm to traiter - frantic when misic speeds up; JAZZy and cool when it's slow [] light ROCK, mwnt not [ss violent as] ROCK or ALTERNATIVE; the way ha is torsoning and moving his back	heavy METAL; the dude is moving crazy lots more hand/arm amplitude hard ROCK; big head and arm momte heavy METAL; the head motion overriding everything, and goes with the arm swinging heavy METAL; recklessness of arm motion esems to be weating lots of energy heavy METAL; exaggerated motion (probably 'cause score s' w' forced, too mach satempi: hos energetic for slow bit, looks great for fast part. ALTERNATVE: dipping head is elternive JAZZ or ROCK, looks like solo w/high energy	
Score °	<pre>FIRE: sounds funky!! ROCK: rythm is even. strokes sre. similtansous. basic BLUES: doesn't move a lot but more than 84 POLKA. stiff. low energy chicken playing music, neck moves like pendulum w/heck Derry rigid, subject is suffaring from neck pein) beginner style, or scmething. drummer looks nervous or very stiff extremely [stiff]: not moving sll that much he straight beck nownt gives a 'J222y' impression LATIN or POLKA; low energy</pre>	AZZ: seems somewhat like JAZZ note semplitude in heed, forestma JAZZ: looks like he's jiving to best JAZZ: steatto attacking precise big band: seems very concerned about the band ROCK: fluid momt, head momt regular; too up and down stactly w/ best regular; too up and down stactly	 ROCK, my was moving like it lots of head; hands haid close to face inb/wn bests, looks [concentrated] heavy METAL; head-banging METAL (remain the de motion, makes it look like METAL hanvy METAL, seades to be hitting very head bangy, ROCKish; extensive bending at the meck ROCK/hard ROCK (mostly), looks like a head banger, should have long hair imuch head mymt; delibergte - weind - forced; the head billing withe cymbal looks quite abiling withe cymbal looks quite heavy METAL; exaggerated mymt 	
2	POLRA, mvnt fwd/backwd tocking of emphasis to left combined w/side/side rocking CLASSICAL.stiff PORA, statof Charlie Matts (Rolling remits a for Charlie Matts (Rolling remits); ha's almost dead motions seem crisp and pracise JAZZ, seems relaxed more growy than 4 and 5, JAZZy?; b/c shoulders move from side to side dance/DISCO; fluid motions, sepecially in shoulders caim, a bit [stiff]; barely any stm mvmt [] fast CLASSICAL; kind of slaw mvmt but faster than 1] CLASSICAL CLASSICAL, not very enthusiatic musician	BOCK but elow tempo; it fite the rocking more amplitude in head and hands rocking to left PUNKy.Jack of the shoulders, head and additional the should be additional ROCK. more aspressive/demonstrative more laid back than 4. 5.1; greater range of momt ROCKAUTERNATIVE; strong fed -back more natural than 45 1,4 and 5; not as [stiff] as 1, lass spatic than 5 JAZZ, body mort asemus to remind me of a JAZZ player ALTERNATIVE; i feel it	ROCK, the best/tampo [rock-blues-funk]; syncopation, "backbast (based only on rhythm HEARD) heavy METAL: looks uncontrolled and head banging TAL, head-banger, enthwisastic heard ROCK dramatic motion in head heavy METAL; even more mynt - seems to be hitting heard forcad, the neck is banding a bit too far and ROCK, similar to performance 2, but head motions much more pronounced banger skyls; looks like heis really getting into it - lots of arm mynt but more netural dance[DISCO]; head mynt rhythm and the heavy METAL; the musician is into it and moves a lot (head is moving)	
1	BLUES, just the slow rhythm moving from weist-accents to R mide DISCO: stiff and disintermarted CLAST suble disintermarted CLAST suble disintermarted resounds blowy however, motion is similar to a balled or folk BLUES.VAZZ: what constrained habituel. like it does this often. comfortable not sure 6 disintermated, mostly upper torso. little arm swat very unneturel - no effort, effort for high hat right, but anars seems ell wrong BLUES, guy looks depressed doman't look right; the hand momet is too stiff and forced	JAZZ. just because I say so weist/head mvnt combined, accents R side EUDEXy, grooving w/small head and srm mvnte, iike 'biack valves'. southarn BLUES, affected by phythm track ROCK. Fluid mvnt i more perpy than 1, BUDES, more arm mvnt than in 1, w/ head mvnt important (asture much more netural than 1, adding wrist netwes effort on high hat 4 snare more netural JAZZ, matra erm mvnt than in 1 gives JAZZ, impression LATIN, i don't know	<pre>PUNN: sound like BLUES (heard this one first): slow-beat phrase - head keeps the beat ROCK: large head and arm monte ALTENANTUR: enthusiastic dramatic for alower paced song BLUES: montes controlled, deliberate and slow Casheorbed, more head mont ROCK/hard ROCK: heavy head and upper torse mont stiff: arms look seized up - the head bobbing works wall w'the music though - groovy ALTENANTUR; FUNKy-head dipping heavy NETAL; b/c of the head mont head follows the arms and heads</pre>	
	• 1·	2 Setting	3	

Figure B.1: Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by score and control setting (Settings 1 to 3).

Perception of Performances Described in Free Words (page 2 of 2)

20

5		JAZZ (kind of); sounds like limited head only, slide side to side CLASSICAL; stiff CLASSICAL; stiff CLASSICAL; the energy, bored countrylike: moderates alow but he hits so many drums it ion it a tight match CLASSICAL, too right for beat of music stiff; no rotation who head not quite distingthe body mont, body mont, body mont, caim and efficient; not much motion "complex maybe a tiny bit mure somt to de better BLUES; abw head swat but the arm mont is faster than classical CLASSICAL; too stiff. He's like grobot	FUNK: arm mvmt tends to/goes towards so- called FUNK ALTERNATUE/heavy METAL; frantic FUNKy JAZ; brings the sticks right back to shouldsr FUNK; wild, peniscal heavd test ROCK, arm motion and head mvmt heavy METAL/ROCK; demonstrative NCKK; foil body motion, but w/the head stiff full body motion, but w/the head stiff in - s bit better than 4; arm swynt matches the speed of piscs - could have a but a bit too much shoulders heavy METAL; head banging and lots of arm mvmt ROCK; fast mvmts	
4	*	JA22: crash interval limited amplitude - appropriate for slow passage but the sound is too 'big' for the limited norm touring fast sequence CLASSICAL: fluid but kinds stiff CLASSICAL: fluid but kinds stiff and the stiff count of the stiff and the stiff count of the stiff count of the stiff most natural so far (12.2); shoulder most natural so far (12.2); should natural doesn't look right - no effort, boring; tLASSICAL; slow mome of body/arms e JA2Z or BLUES; the musician looks like he should have a the and suit He doesn't move much despite the high . energy of the beat	ROCK; duration of some beats more upper body/arm amplitude ROCK, large arm mwrts ROCK; wild, loud METAL; dramatic arm motionwrist motion in this one though seems unnaturel BLMEs upright, more stive than classical margeric; widd mwrts hard ROCK/speadic; wild arm mwmts, very emphatic and strong looks like he's mwyng in fest motion arms are unneturelly fest ROCK, the overall wynwt (head doen't dip enough for alternative) heavy NETAL; aggressive on the drum	
Score		CLASSICAL, guy wee kinds cool JAZZ-pop (Kenny G): limited renge of svort-laid back BLUES: haed going to the best but in a mellow sort of wemonstrative of sort of wemonstrative mone 'senni love' memorative BLUES: controlled, precise, short swings bored, tired, he needs e Mars bar, swnt is limited laid back, JAZZy, no upper body swnt aside fr/ head, though still fluid looks like he's on downers, or hes hangover; no effort as all.looks like + he's trying to keep it quiet CLASSICAL; a very 'stuck up' minimal swnt fjure BLUES, the musician looks drugged	ROCK; just the momt more like ROCK; more amplitude in upper body - less in head, more in "gut" ROCK; into it FUNK, high-enargy ROCK; isrm motion down't seam very ny fised angle at filoso heavy NGTALIROCK, long strokes seem to imgly high volume not as high as 3 laid-back, looks netural, goes w/beat looks forced; much more mowth in arms (w/stiff elb.s) than rest of body bit forced; but a bit more natural than the rest, forced: head bobbing atill looks forced; bit abit more the force on the drum looks right for the sound ALTERRATIVE; the way the sticks are held when not hitting drum ROCK i. hand too stiff 4 goes too high	
2		JAZZ, i don't know pop-JAZZ, 'mellow' attitude - torso remains varical BUUSZ, fluid but not totally expressive CMOSIGAL, vary saiff - little head more swing-like , eithough treck is not like that, more subbade motions CLASSICAL, iittle upper body mowt - rigid a bit rigid, the back does not bend JAZZ-like?, body rather rigid e bit stiff and squere - unnatural, stiff. left am hocked at the beginning - unnatural - way too much shoulder momt indicate BUUSS; JAZZ (4 and 1 vary similar); however the head motion is better	ALTERNATIVE: fiantic arm unable to judge style: I notice this is the same score - herocks more twds and boxwds ROCK, strong arm monts PONK: JAZZ like of ion simerated dramatically from arm BALES/ROCK: holding one stick up for the best - implies strong best too much head banging, no bend at neck ROCK, full body motion, like JAZZ. but e bit jerkler energetic, spasmic; a lot of arm mymt - looks unnaturel and tyring ALTERNATIVE; engry arm mymt and body mynt to pupi hew to use the drum	
1		<pre>chemical; mvmt of arm BUDS5 played by JAZ2 dude. limited mvmt AIDERVATUVE, stiff CLASSICAL; dude. Imost no mvmt okher tLASSICAL; tame. almost no mvmt okher tLASSICAL; pright mvmt - indicates low volume.precise his rigid: very little mvmt except for vrists laid-back, slight head mvmt, little arm mvmt amme as 1, CLASSICAL; minimel head mvmt - kind of stuck up looking meybe alow ROCK; the shoulders don't seem to move correctly</pre>	pop-ROCK, cheary:'' moving from weist, no head this time JAZZ; big arm and head mwmte but not as big as 3 ROCK, energetic BLUES; steedy pace standy mwmte; regimented JAZZ; mwmte; reputitive prather nondescript, actually; like parformance 1. but v/scome arm mwmt slow and deliberate - forced, low and sweying of back forced lots of affort on the high hat tore muchi ROCK/heavy ROCK, exaggerated arm mwmts and head mwmts dance/DISCO, excited	-
	4	4 Set	ting 5	_J `
		D,C C	~~	

Figure B.2: Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by score and control setting (Settings 4 and 5).

Perception of Performances Described in Free

Words

11	doem't look right; the hand mont is too stiff and forced heavy HETAL; by of the head mont, the head follows the arms and heads maybe show ROCK; the shoulders don't seem to move correctly dance/DIGC; excited	CLASSICAL: not very enthusiatic musician ALTERNATIVE: I feel it scover in the second second second second second second second second second in the second second second second second in the second s	LATIN of POLMA; low energy door#/DISCO; succised provides and the succised areas BLUES; the musician looke drugged ROCK; L. hand too stiff & gdes too high	
10	BLUES: guy looks depressed JAZZ: extra arm work than in 1 gives JAZZy tepression ALTERNATIVE: FURKy head simpling CLASSICAL; minimal head mont - kind of stuck up looking RCAT/heavy RCCK; exaggerated arm events and head monts.	fest CLASSICAL: kind of slow mout but feater than () CLASSICAL # JAZZ: body mout essess to remind me of s JAZZ player: dance (DISCU): based mout thythm and the bhight of the drug ticks highle of the drug ticks highle can be drug ticks and shoulder mout indicates BLUES ALTERNATIVE: angry arm mout and body mout	JA22: the straight back mont gives a 'JA22y' impression ROCK; head banging but not'nvy METAL kind heavy METAL; the extra head mont CLASICAL; a very 'stuck up' miniss! wown fut the stuck of the sticks are held when not hitting drum	
9	<pre>very unneturel - no effort; effort for high hat right, but snare seems all wrong much more ratural than 1; adding wriat not seffort on high hat is enare more eitif; arms look seised up - the head bobbing works well w/ the music though - groovy same as 1; alve and deliberate - forced; slow and sweying of back forced; lots of effort on the high hat (too much)</pre>	calm, a bit [stiff]; barely any arm momet [] more patural than *s 1.4.and 5; not as [stiff] as 1. less spacic than basic states and the states of the state basic states and space and states of the same but more matural a bit stiff and square - unnatural; stiff. left arm booked at the beginning - unnatural - wey too much shoulder momet note and the states of the states of the states of the states of the states of the states income states of the states of the states of the states of the states of the states of the states of the lock unnatural and tiring	sctremmiy [stiff]; not moving all that much very mechanical and borsel - looks like during treally feed like a playing of bobbing w/the cymbal looks quite silly looks like he's on downers. or hes a hangover; no effort at all.looks like he's crying to keep it quite bit forced, but a bit more netural than the rest; forced; head tobbing sill looks odd, but netural b/c the force on the drum looks light for the sound	
.8	disinterested, mostly upper torso, little arm work BUUES; more arm myst than in 1. w head myst important feature PRAY,hard ROCK, heavy head and upper torso myst haid-back; sight head swst, little, arm myst rather nondescript, actually; like performance 1. Dut w/some arm myst	<pre>dance/DISCO: fluid motions. especially in shoulders RoCK/ALTERNATIVE; strong fed -back motion of head and upper toteo head motions much more pronounced . back motions much more pronounced JAZZ-liker; hody recher rigid RoCK: full body motion. like JAZZ, but a bit jerkler</pre>	Beginner style, or something: drummer inoke nervous or very stiff ROCK; rhythmir Botion, to the best (kind of like what you'd see at the bars downtown) Bohymer d ROCK (sourly)or bla like a best baryer; bould have long hair (mich heed award) isid back, JAZZy; no upper body, mwst eside fr/heed, though atull fluid looks forced; much more swat in arms (s/stiff alb.s, that rest of body	•
7	habituel, like it does this often, confortable, not sure more peppy than 1; absorbed, more head swat rigid; very little wat except for wriste hatural; even myste	more grooty than 4 and 5. JAZZy?; b/c .shoulders move from side to side more laid back than 4.5.1; graater range of awat forced; the nack is bending a bit too far a bit figid; the back does not band artific; repetitive, still a bit stiff; too much head banging, no bend at neck	vary rigid; subject is suffering from nack pain :: requis; too up and down exactly w/ beat head bangy, ROCKish; sotemaive bending at the nack bored, tired; he needs a Mars bar, swat is limited laid-back; looks natural, gome w/beat	,
, di citi	BLU2:377, wors constrained ROCK full dwar ROCK full dwar «ROUS: works controlled, dellbarate and slow CLASSICAL, upright most - indicates low wolume, precise his JAZ, avets repetitive	JA22: semant silvard hack: more representer/demonstrative hack: more representer/demonstrative hacking hard CLASSICAL; little upper body swyst - rigid HJUBS/ROCK; holding one stick up for the best - implies strong best	DIGYO, lipht hits quickly, sigid ROCC, liud avec, beadavec besvy METAL, seems to be hitting very hard: more avec BLIES, controlled, precise, short avings heavy METALNOOK; long strikes seems to lepty high volume: not as high as 1	
subje	<pre>very subched BUMES; the rhythm track sounds blues, however, metion is similar to a balled or folk like black velvet: southern BUMES; affected by thythm track drug induced has; wrat thead very classific, irans, also are to smet other than wrist BUBES; steady paceteady mrmteregimented</pre>	reminds me of Charlis Matte (Rolling Stinse): he's inst dead, antions seem sedium pece RCK: molerately pared hard RDK: dramatic motion in head sore swing-like, a ithough track is not line share antional solidon ware share in the solidon sector dramatically from arms	chicken playing music; nack moves like brind w/back servery concerned about the bend in servery concerned about the HETAL: dramatic head motion, makes it look like WETAL: obtained bord. not much merger; hallooked bord. not much WCCK; armoni lover WCCK; armoni servery natural work as drum servers to be struck w/fixed angle at albow	•
4	CLASSICL: disinterested stiff BLUES fund smat w/motion CLASSICAL: didactic, stiff RDCK, anargetic	POLKA; wilf; JAZZ, anappy, head-banger, anthesisetic (LASSICAL, very etif - little head motion PANK; showing off, big wind-up, scary	POLKA; stiff, low energy JAZ2; steasto attacking; precise hats: hats: Status Status FUNE: high-energy	
3	DISCO, stiff and disinterested BUUES: growing wissail based and arm momte ALTENNATUS: stiff arm momte ALTENNATUS: stiff JAZZ: hig arm and based momte but not as big as 3	CLASSICAL: stiff FWNRY JAZZ: got the shoulders. head and arms going, looks uncontrolled and head hanging Budgs: Juid but not totally axpressive ROCK: strong arm symts	BidES: dowen't move a lot but more than %s JAZZ; looks'like he's jiving to best heavy WTATL: head banging Bidow sort of may mellow sort of may ROCK; into it	
2	moving from weist-accents to ² R mide BUIES (heard this come first) cents R mide BUIES (heard this come first) come beat phruse - head keeps the beat BUUES played by JAZZ dude; iLuited evat moving from weist, no head this time	fwd/backwei rocking of emphasis to left combined w/side/ids rocking method w/side/ids rocking to left optituds in hands rocking to [rock-blues-funk]: wyncopation, "backbeat" (based only on itythe HEARD) pop-JJ22: "sellew" stituds - torao remains wable to Judge style; I notice this is the eases score - he rocks more feds and behvds	RCX; thythm is even, strokem are simultaneous; basic inte of head; hends held close to inte of head; hends held close to face inh/em beats; looks [concentrated] JAZI-pop (Renny G); limited renge of myst- laid back more like RCR; more amplitude in upper body - less im head, more in 'gut'	•
1	PLUES: just the slow rhythm JAZZ: just because I say so PURM: sound like chemical: event of afm pop-ROCK, chemsy!''	FOLKA: svat ROCK but alow tampo; it fits the rocking ? BOCK: the bast/tempo JAZZ: i don't know ALTERNATIVE; frantic arm	FURX: sounds funky!! JAZZ: seems somewhat like JAZZ ROCK: goby whe moving like it CLASSICAL; guy was kinds cool ROCK: just the mont	
	1	2	3	*
		Score		

Figure B.3: Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by subject and score (Scores 1 to 3).

Perception of Performances Described in Free Words page 2 of 2)

	1		FURRY CLASSICAL; kinda mix ROCK: again arms more haavy METAL; the dude is moving crary JACE; crash interval ROCK; duration of some beats	elow ROCK. It's ROCKy but slow MCRLD (Aftican): variety of arm swmt ROCK: long/sbort arm swmt JOK: hings/sbort arm swmt JOK: hings arm woll could be and the so called FURK could be are covards so
	2		n.c jAZZ-PUAR: rhyths w/ kids cymbal (very 'JAZZ) - solo uses lots of cymbal - syncopation [] lots more head/arm amplitude limited amplitude - approprist for slow passage but the sound is too 'big' for the limited work during fast sequence more upper body/arm emplitude	from weist - moderate range - moderate arm amplitude more arm and head amplitude than 81 lote of head amplitude and upper arm - hands are close to face limited head only, slide side to side ALTERNATIVE/heavy NETAL: frantic
	3		JA2Dy; mmail mymts BLHEDy; fluid and fineseed hard BOCK; bly head and arm mymts CLASSICAL; fluid but kinds stiff ROCK; laige arm mymts	JAZZy; grooving fluid mailow ROCK; kinds groovy but not completely appresive equasity. BOCK; really long arm strokes (MSKy JAZZ; brings the sticks right back to shoulder
01	4		CLASSICAL: stiff, low energy BLUES: don't know heavy METAL: the head motion overriding everything, and goes with the arm swinging CLASSICAL: choked, stiff ROCK: wild, loud	CLASSICAL: low amergy, low amplitude JAZZ, don't know RCK: enthumissit CLASSICAL: low emergy, bored FINR: wild, maniacal
subjec	5		bebop:wing: the winging of his back when elegrating bind runse FUNE: he's kicking [but]rmminds me of 'FUNE drummer'lames Brown heavy NETAL: recklessness of arm motionseems to be wasting lots of energy wing or JAZZ: motion more subdued but quick and crisp when necessary NETAL: dramatic arm motionwrist motion in this one though emen unnatural	<pre>moderate RCCK: average motion throughout AUTENATURE: motion of head and neck threah-METAL; dramatic head bobbing countrylike; moderatewise with this so many drums it isn't a tight match hard-fast RCCK; arm motion and head mont ?</pre>
ц Ц	6		JAZ2/BUES; no head swat, but fluid body swat ROCK: head swat, demonstrative, fluid heavy HETAL: swaqpersed motion (probably 'cause score slow) CLASSICL, uptight, controlled BUES: upright, more expressive/demonstrative than classical	BLUES/CLASSICAL: controlled LATTH: probably ho: If its w/ score; tormo rotating RCMR: tormo rotation seems higher CLASSICAL: too rigid for best of music heavy METAL/ROCK: demonstrative
	7		n.C. laid-back; natural avat forced; too nack-axtensive most natural so far (1.2.); shoulder myst but needs more totation at nack energetic; wide mysts	unenthusiastic; ; laid-back, natural; mwats are proportionate jarky; mwats are too big, atiff; no rotation in mečk emergetic, joyful; grooves w/thm beat
	8		JA22; full rigid upper torso swat (no separate head awai) a bit more JA22Y than 1; again upper torso mvat but slight head awat makes it seem like he is "v/lt" hard ROCK/speadic; too much head mvat not vary related; a bit stiff. minimal in all mvat accessed; a bit stiff. minimal in herd ROCK/speadic; wild arm mvats, very emphatic and wtrong	unnetural; too stiff in head and shoulders, as opposed to torso RCKX; full body motion in a full fashion. motion in head looks good w/chait in torso hard RCK/spawdic; strong, pronounced head mwmt not quite disinterested; ho body mwmt, but very slipht head mwt RCK; full body motion, but w/the head stiff
	9	 	bit sliff - looks more "right" when the waic opeads up: not enough event at first, later looks efficient more natural at first - frantic when music speeds up; JAZZY and cool when it's alow [] too emergetic for slow bit, looks great for fast part; deent look right - no effort, boring; looks like he's moving in fast motion; eres are unnaturally fast	<pre>stiff.stiff back and arms look stiff and wrong looks right - good effort; effort matches mwaiel: so these head bobbing disjointed - weird; agus look arthritic, head bobbing looks of&y. caim and efficient; not much motion -works well b/c the piece is quite complex maybe a tiny bit more mwat would be betaer efficient - b bit bots that he arm mwat bit so much shoulders but a bit too much shoulders</pre>
ı	10		JAZZ; head event light RCK; mont not [as violent as] RCK ALTERNATUS; Sloping head is alternive CRCK; the overall most thead down't dip enough for alternative)	JAZZ; the body beat is JAZZy ROCK: the body motion seems like ROCK ALTERNATIVE the mead dips down so low it ALTERNATIVE the set of the set of the BUIDS; slow head awat but the arm swmt is faster than classical heavy METAL; head banging and lots of arm swmt.
	11	•	CLASSICAL or BLUES; a little stiff and too precise ROCK or ALTERNATIVE; the way he is turning and moving his back JAZI or ROCK; looks like sale within amergy JAZI or ROCK; looks like hall occur in accurd have a tig and mult. We doesn't accurd have a tig and mult. We doesn't beat heavy METAL; aggressive on the drum	ALTERNATIVE: ROCK: head wonts and shoulders heavy NETAL: crary wonts, too scrited CLASSICU: too stiff. He's like a robot. ROCK: fast wonts

Figure B.4: Subjects' descriptions of performances, grouped by subject and score (Scores 4 and 5).

5 5, 3 2 5 5 2, 5 3 2 2 2 3 2 5 2 3 4 l 1 2,4 3, 5 2, 3 l 3, 2 5, 2 2,5 3 2 3 2, 5 2 2 5, 5,2 4 Score 2 2,4 2 1.5 2.3 5 5 4 2.5 5.2 2 2 1 3 5 2 2, 5 2, 5 2 4, 2 2, 3 3 5 2 3 Subject 9 10 11 5 6 7 R l 4

Figure B.5: Each cell contains the number of the kinematic setting that the subject felt was most appropriate for the score. If a second value is present, that represents the subjects "close" second best vote.

B.2 Experiment 2

For Question 1, each subject was asked to set the frequency and amplitude controls to create a kinematic style that best reflected the score in their opinion. The raw UI setting data is shown in Figure B.8. The timing data for animating each score has previously been presented in Table 5.5. The subjects' reasons for choosing such settings are given in Figure B.9.

The remainder of the questions pertained to the subjects' evaluations of SMED. Figure B.10 contains the subjects' answers to the two multiple choice questions. Figure B.11 shows the subjects' comments on what would make the interface easier to use. Figure B.12 shows comments on what kinds of movement subjects wanted to create, but were not able to. Figure B.13 contains comments on what kinds of movement should be added or removed for to make the movement more expressive, or to increase the "range" of expressions. Figure B.14 contain any additional comments.

Subject's Favourite Performances

s

Subjects' Explanations for Choosing Best Performance

Best Performance, Second Best

		Ī	•
ubject	Score	<u> </u>	Reson for choice of best performance
1	1	1.0	fits the score best, what can I sav??
-	2	5,0	because the motion fits the score
	3	5,2	fits well with the movement
	4	1,0	I like the mix
	, 5	2,0	I like the rhythm
2	1	3.0	first one I saw identified the style clearly
-	2	4,0	on that one I identified pop-jazz and it had stuck; most limited a mellow cool dude
	3	4,0	same reason as #2
	4	3,0	favourite one not "best"; the head is exaggerated and it's funny!
-	5	2,0	amplitude seems appropriate to rhythm
. 3	1	5,0	head mymts & arm mymts seemed to match
	2	2,0	funky groove w/ upper body, arms & shoulders
	3	2,5	look like they're moving to the beat well
	4	1,0	snaller mymts seemed to tit the slower music
	5	1,0	seemed to mesh well with the music; kinda fluid
4	1	2,0	good stress on the beat
	2	2,5	high energy suits the music
	3	2,0	don't know
	4	2,0	suits the music
	5	5,0	suits the music
5	1	2.5	n.c.
	2	2.4	2 and 4 have consistent motion
	3	2,0	n.c.
	4	2,4	2 has more "groove" than 4
	5	5,3	5 seems to have most consistent "drive" to hard rocking song
6	1	2,5	score is very deliberate; doesn't seem to require movement
	2	2,0	seems to be appropriate level of movement for volume level; 4 & 1 are too rigid; 3 is too wild
	3	5,0	music peppy and groovy
	4	3,5	fluid, demonstrative
	5	2,0	Tiuid and relaxed, but not as relaxed as 5
7	1	2,0	it just looks right
	2.	5,2	movement seems to fit the beat
	3	5,2	woman's intuition :) I don't know, just looks good
	4	5,0	good showmanship
	5	5,0	it seems to be enjoying it more
8	1	4,2	it seemed like a slow, easy-going piece
_	2	1,5	don't know why; score was a bit dancy, I suppose
	3	3,2	score seems a bit too harsh for any of the other
	• 4	2,0	as stated previously, movements made it seem drummer was "into" music
	5	5,0	as with score 4, movememnts looked natural & drummer seemed "into" the music
9	1	2,3	2 looks more natural, but I like the head bobbing on 3
-	2	2,3	calm & groovy, matches the style; music isn't heavy enough for 3 and the others look too unnatural
	3.	2,5	2 matches the style, 5 looks a bit more natural (for how hard he's hitting the drums)
	4	2,3	2: slow jazzy, groovy; 3: a bit fast, but effort looks good
	5	2,5	looks most natural 5 looks good in parts as well
· 10	1 .	3,0	like the exaggerated movements
	2	5,0	I like the "emotion" in the arm movements
	3	3,0	lots of interesting movement
	4	3,0	love that dipping head movement
	5	3,0	like the head movement
11	1	5,0	the movements match the beat
	2	2,0	the movements match the beat
	-3	2,0	he seems to be the right musician; the others are faking it
	4	1,0	n.c.
	5	2,0	n.c.

103

Figure B.6: Subjects' reasons for choosing best performance.

Subjects' Descriptions of Five Musical Genres

BLUES

1: laid back but fluid

- 2: slow beat; head emphasis/torso
- 3: fluid, small arm & head mvmts; melancholic
- 4: laid-back, groovy
- 5: laid back; consistent momt in quarter not hits; no dramatic motions
- 6: deliberate, slow and fluid *

7: not sure

- 8: body mvmts (head & arms) slight; implying laid back
- 9: calm, not too much effort (though I'd imaging there to be some head mvmt)
- 10: slow, depressive head mvmts; minimal arm mvmt
- 11: finessed

FUNK

1: upbeat, kinda makes one move the legs & shoulders involuntarily

- 2: n.c.
- 3: groovy, laid back with med. head & arm mvmts; shoulders move as well
- 4: excited
- 5: quick mvmts; not much head motion; lots of torso to get from drum to drum 6: sharp, fast, expressive
- 7: rotation of shoulders
- 8: no idea
- 9: groovy, loose limbs; head bobbing
- 10: more upbeat mvmt; head moves faster than the base beat
- 11: excited, forced

ROCK ·

- 1: uncontrolled & angry, yet...
- 2: fast, even rhythm; moderate amplitude 3: large head & arm mvmts
- 4: energetic
- 5: lots of mvmt, particularly bobbing of head and back; high energy
- 6: explosive, broad (i.e. long) motions, demonstrative 7° : wide mvmts, hard hits, head banging
- 8: wild head & arm.mvmts
- 9: intense, lots of hard hitting arm mvmt, head thrashing 10: exaggerated mvmts; angry arm moves and ``head banging'' of the head
- 11: uncontrolled, excited, angry

JAZZ

- 1: finessed, classy, smooth
- 2: limited range
- 3: groovy, fluid, med. arms, head & shoulder mvmts
- 4: staccato, precise
- 5: Itd head motion; motions generally more conservative; crisp attck on wrists
- 6: fluid, demonstrative, laid back
- 7: small head mvmts
- 8: full, rigid upper torso mvmt, with slight head mvmt
- 9: cool, efficient, not much mvmt
- 10: smooth body and head mvmt; more arm mvmt than blues
- 11: controlled, fast, neat, clean

LATIN

- 1: uplifting, excited 2: n.c. 3: peppy & groovy 4: peppy 5: not sever head or arm or body motion; more in wrist 6: expressive, quick, explosive, short motions 7: note sure 8: little head mvmt as opposed to arm mvmt 9: energetic, fast, dancy
- 10: head mvmt faster than base beat; arm mvmt a little exaggerated
- 11: controlled

Figure B.7: Subjects' descriptions of the kinematics of five musical genres, given the name of the genre. Comments are numbered by subject.

	1		evel	for	Song	J						Le	vel	for	Song		
Subject	UI Control	1	2	3	<u></u> 4	5			Sub	ject	UI Control	1	2	3	4	5	
1	amp back	7	30	15	31	25				7	amp back	12	10	10	10	19	
	amp neck	52	76	20	22	40					amn wrist	76	74	52	34	52	
	amp albow	17	12	41	33	38					amp elhow	13	8	40	41	16	
	amp shoulder	130	12	29	33	21				,	amp shoulder	10	17	7	24	31	-
	amp gain	65	50	76	65	59					amp gain	73	50	43	62	44	
	freq wrist	50	15	25	13	33					freq wrist	33	27	33	33	33	
	freq elbow	22	43	49	73	33					freg elbow	33	23	33	33	33	
	freq shoulder	27	41	25	13	33					freg shoulder	33	49	33	33	33	
	freq gain	80	82	69	68	80					freq gain	81	88	22	50	81	
2	, amp back	8	14	10	10	10			÷	8	amp back	10	4	24	10	19	
	amp neck	20	40	20	30	20					amp neck	110	21	20	21	22	
	amp wrist	33	45	43	13	29			·		amp wrist	33	30	20	17	25	
	amp erbow	20	45	12	13	23			•		wodie dina		2	60	Ξć.	25	
	amp shoulder	50	50	50	40	50					amp shourder	50	50	50	50	50	
	frog wrist	122	86	33	33	33					freq wrist	Ĩõ	50	10	33	12	
	freq elbow	111	ĩ	11	33	33					freq elhow	ŏ	50	10	33	74	
	freg shoulder	33	12	33	33	33				1	freq shoulder	100	ō	-80	33	13	
	freq gain	70	90	26	10	50					freq gain	50	50	50	9	50	
. 3	amp`back	10	13	16	14	10				9	amp back	5	10	10	18	13	
_	amp neck	17	26	30	23	26					amp neck	9	42	32	45	42	
	amp wrist	57	33	28	50	65					amp wrist	85	80	- 77	62	90	
	amp elbow	20	33	28	50	19					wodie gms	1 4	12	20	20	2	
	amp shoulder	24	33	43	٥ ٥	12					amp snoulder	6	12	100	29	50	
	amp gain	21	21	29	20	50					frog wright	42	30	100	55	30	
	freq albow	20	20	50	51	26					freq elbow	20	29	8	11	28	
	freg shoulder	110	11	25	20	20					freq shoulder	29	31	Ř	23	38	
	freq gain	19	29	50	50	50					freq gain	84	92	50	93	91	
4	amp back	0	10	10	17	6				10	amp back	2	10	28	28	42	
	amp neck	6	~28	4	28	7					amp neck	11	10	28	63	10	
	amp wrist	68	6-2	17	. 58	74					amp wrist	37	77	12	42	38	
	amp elbow	25	21	11	21	1/					amp elbow⊹	37	16	1/	13	35	
	amp shoulder	12	10	50	21	26					amp shoulder	25	13	20	70	20	
Ŕ	frog wright	22	20	20	20	67					freq wrist	17	4 J 1	50	35	35	
	freq elbow	22	33	2	11	16					freq elbow	31	48	16	17	35	
	freq shoulder	112	22	1	11	16					freq shoulder	51	50	12	47	29	
	freq gain	88	92	50	50	90					freq gain	94	96	50	69	32	
5	amp back	12	11	10	32	3				11	amp back	4	17	10	30	10	
-	amp neck	12	27	10	19	1					amp neck	11	36	10	10	23	
	amp wrist	56	35	75	13	75					amp wrist	75	81	66	56	41	
	amp elbow	34	41	11	64	10					amp elbow	12	9	19	2	29	
	amp shoulder	. 9	23	13	22	14					amp shoulder	12	. 9	14	41	29	
-	amp gain	19	19	81	50	31					amp gain	35	50	50	50	29	
	freq wrist	10	24	22	20	10					freq wrist	40	88	22	42	34	
	frog choulder	37	12	22	33	, 10 10					freq elbow	27	6	22	42	33	
	freq gain	12	56	83	58	33	•				freq gain	69	5 Ŏ	50	50	50	
K	amp back	10	10	10	24	17			_								
Ŭ	amp neck	10	27	10	27	10											
	amp wrist	45	76	42	20	79		•									
	amp elbow	23	7	26	20	10											
•	amp shoulder	31	16	31	59	10					B						
	amp gain	32	50	50	56	52											
	freq wrist	33	33	42	33	33											
	freq elbow	33.	33	28	33	33											
_	treg shoulder	133	33	29	33	33											
-	freq dain	1 1 5	50	50	50	78.											

Subjects' User Interface Levels For 5 Scores

Figure B.8: UI settings for 5 scores for each of 11 subjects.

Responses for Experiment 2, Question 2

	(Question: For each score, what types of movement characterize that style? Why did you choose the settings you used?)
Subject	Reasons for choosing UI settings for each score (1 through 5)
1	I: slow JAZZ; slow back of neck, increased wrist "appropriate" 2: don't know; but seemd like more wrist is good in this style 3: repeating strokes; Back & elbow movement corresponded with the strokes!! 4: kinda ROCK; sounded like ROCK beat; the movement (more back & neck) looked more realistic 5: kinda FUNKYII; increased slaps, head & wrist movement looked appropriate
2	1: BLUES: added more head & waist: attempted to slow attack/decay because beat is slow 2: JAZZ/LATIN?; added small amount of head, slowed down frequency — larger elbow amplitude 3: [intermediate] score — added more head: smooth out elbows 4: added some neck amplitude, less shoulder 5: interesting; more subit; made different choices
3	1: light mvmts; [] smaller mvmts & freq. but his head is going because it's a FUNKY beat 2: the arm mvmts – shoulder, elbow & wrist are med. speed & gain, neck & back motion'small because it is a FUNKY JAZZY beat 3: fairly large arm mvmts & head mvmts; he's grooving with the beat –– has to get to a wide range 4: sharp small mvmts because doesn't have a large range to play to; moving his head a lot because groovy beat 5: small mvmts; fluid & groovy
4	1: low head movement 2: focused on frequency of left arm because of realism; score had more energy than the drummer 3: fucused on wrist; staccatto rhythms 4: high-energy, with high amplitude, more head-movement given 5: head and shoulders were the focus
5	 pretty mellow; didn't get a clear mood off the music so it was difficult to capteru the modd beat is very important here; created solid, slow head movement to emphasize on beats, avoided large gain on amplitude, avoided larger shoulder motion to give crisper and less aggressive motion lots of motion except on neck and back n to emphasize the snares; bobbing head to emphasize high energy of piece jamaićan; not much neck, mostly wrist for crisp snare look
6	 pissed me off; couldn't get handle on irregular beat; tried to set it to relaxed slow movements but I couldn't fit the movements to the score head movement because of emphasis on steady beat; he needed to be more demonstrative than original settings; wrist 'cause volume not too high broad movements except fog head/back; settings ok as is generally lots of movement in back and head because beat strong and quick; also shoulder increase 'cause beat strong quick beat; lots of wrist movement, but not that strong so no shoulder, elbow; gained in overall frequency because beat is fast; no head/back 'cause not strong
7	1: felt like he needed to touch drums lightly, like stacatto piano; wanted some neck 2: increased wrist; medium energy score; playing same note w/ same hand required more wrist motion 3: more rhythmic; wrist needed to be more involved; needed neck movement (not as much to be rockish) 4: looked like score required harder movements; high-energy score 5: easier to do repetitive; .8 energy; .4 strength of beat
8	 only changed frequency of shoulders; made it rather jerky & happy; liked the stuffness of the default back movements; very short and abrupt, like the notes most of the movement in wrists & head; low freuency in shoudlers; created an easy, fluid, laid-back look hard, quick movements with the arms (shoulders); a very basic beat; simple, rhythmic movements kept most of the movement in wrists & slight neck; low freq.; this kept motion fluid, which seemed to fit the piece increased neck & back movement; increase frequency in elbows; created an overall "jerky" movement which "snapped" with the beat
9	 very hard to make this one look right without being too stiff: beat was too fast for head & neck movement: I tried to minimize movement for a cool, collected jazzy style, oh yeah had a difficult time getting this right; needed more power on the snare and less on the hihat: tried to have a groovy kind of style, but I was a bit hung up on the power differences to get it perfect sounded like a drummer practising playing/having fun on his own, so I tried to make the drummer look like he wasn't working too hard, or thrashing (as he would in a concert)
10	 went for slow, short movement because of the slow beat; used faster movement because of the shorter strokes to make if and like drums were being hit harder used little body and head movement because of the slow beat; short but fast movements seemed best drum sounded louder and a little slower to allow for longer, more stacatto strokes; the body motion looked good as it follows the music; kept head in line with body for this the beat seemed like the head should move to the mythm more; fast drumming to suit the beat with short strokes kept head and moved together; put the arms up high as it seemed more like a rock type of beat and high arms to look cooler
11	 slow beat; wrist high; shoulder & elbow low; neck higher than back so he looks less stiff medium amplitude for neck to follow the beat; high frequency and amplitude for wrist because the beat is fast and the use of hihat slow movements and low amplitude for neck and back; high amplitude for wrist but low amplitude for shoulder and elbow because the beat is fast the beat is fast the beat is fast the beat is fast beat; average amplitude for wrist, shoulder, and elbow as well as average frequency except wrist slightly faster for final hit

Figure B.9: Subjects' reasons for using UI settings for each animated score.



Figure B.10: Responses for Experiment 2, Questions 3 and 4.

Responses for SMED Evalution: Experiment 2, Question 3b

Subject	What would make the interface easier to use?
1	more practice
2	no constraints, more parameters
3	I found I didn't play w/ the gain as much because there are so many controls to play with
4	maybe a shoulder/elbow/wrist space? not sure
5	in theory, the interface makes lots of sense; however, changes in some paramters didn't seem to give a linear effect in performance; I didn't use frequency much; amplitude captured more feel
6	it is excellent; the dialog boxes are not as intuitive; i.e. how many scores set (why doesn't it go to current) and gain (explain overall); otherwise, excellent!
7	pictures
8	can't think of anything: learning curve was very easy; few controls make it simple
9	instead of relative distribution for wrist/shoulder/elbow, it would be better to have absolute levels; maybe have a way to adjust individual drum amplitudes (at least hihat) as well
10	have an arm that you can set the max/min movement on; need some way to show graphically the reason why the shoulder/wrist/elbow values are related
11	it is not easy to understand how gain affects the distribution; I think (shoulder, elbow, wrist) should be independently changed like neck and back

108

Figure B.11: Responses for Experiment 2, Question 3b.

Responses for SMED Evalution: Experiment 2, Question 4b

Subject	What kinds of movement did you want to create, but were not able to?
1	I don't think I was unable to create what seemed appropriate given my knowledge (poor!!) of drumming and music styles
2	side_to_side [head movements]. limited by constraints
3	sideways body movements (score 1 & 5)
4	can't think of any
5	control lateral torso movement; in terms of speed, perhaps could control (in non-linear terms) speed and keyframe; NOTE - just suggestions; may not be useful if implemented
6	score 1 couldn't make it match (however, hated score)
7	rotation of neck, more expressive neck movement in general
8	was quite pleased with all of my final products
9	score 1 wanted to slow down head movement (1/2 beat); most of my other "wants" are stated in question 2 [Experiment 2]
10	I think I was able to express enough movement; would have to study real drummers more to make sure
11	the amplitude should be able to change during the score; example in the beginning the wrist high & shoulder low, then wrist low and shoulder high; all movement described down in 4c and 5

Figure B.12: Responses for Experiment 2, Question 4b.

Responses for SMED Evalution: Experiment 2, Question 4c

Subject	What kinds of movement should be added or removed for to make the movement more expressive, or to increase the "range" of expressions?
1	maybe putting both hands in air for a while & scream!!!
2	side-side constraints! local control of phrases: better vis. representation (could help); see sound & movement represented together
, 3	sideways head movements & body movements should be added
4	minimum or maximum limits?
5	none apparent at this time; perhaps use head lateral movement
6	none I don't think yhou can without violating constraints of human movement
7	see above; none should be removed
8	maybe funky hand movements in the air or something (showy stuff)
9	would be better if some of the controls were more sensitive; I generally had the wost amplitude up high, others low; also, sometimes the shoulders swing back & forth to much; maybe an amplitude control for that would be good.
· 10	A "shrugging" movement to the head would be a nice addition; tossing the drum stick option?
11	wing movement of arms and shoulders; rotate head; tilt head back before restart; spinning the sticks between fingers :)

Figure B.13: Responses for Experiment 2, Question 4c.

Responses for SMED Evalution: Experiment 2, Question 5

Subject	Any additional suggestions/comments?
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	program looks good; interface is also easy to use; but obviously it requires previous knowledge of music styles. May be some kind of help for users like me to explain w/ some examples n.c. have to movem the slider a lot before a noticeable Ichange happens especially in the freq. very impressive main comments: very h clearly successful in controlling range of motion, depending on emotion and song; energy controlled a great deal by increasing amplitude; examples should be in repeated loop to allow luser to control; amplitude much more powerful than frequency; discrepancies can be very obvious in most joints except the wrist [] looks funky I like the overall gain sliders; the wnst movement was a little finicky but I think I understand why cool program Adam! Yay! very interesting program; I like the way you can move around to get different views the musician should stand up sometimes for rock or heavy metal; he should turn towards the drum before hitting to anticipate; loop function to repeat the score while adjusting amplitude and

Figure B.14: Responses for Experiment 2, Question 5.

Appendix C

Mathematical Appendix



Cos Law: $a^2 = b^2 + c^2 - 2bc \cos A$ Sin Law: $a / \sin A = b / \sin B = c / \sin C$ Tan Law: (a - b) / (a + b) = tan ((A - B) / 2) t tan ((A + B) / 2)

Figure C.1: The used trigonometric laws (for reference).

Bibliography

- Harold F. Abeles, Charles F. Hoffer, and Robert H. Klotman. Foundations of Music Education. Shirmer Books, New York, 1994.
- R.T. Allen. The arousal and expression of emotion by music. British Journal of Aesthetics, 30(1):57-61, January 1990.
- [3] Kenji Amaya, Armin Bruderlin, and Tom Calvert. Emotion from motion. In Proceedings of Graphics Interface '96, pages 222-229, May 1996.
- [4] David P. Anderson. Formula: A programming language for expressive computer music. Computer, 24(7):12-21, July 1991.
- [5] Kenny Aronoff. Kenny Aronoff: just laying it down. DCI Music Video, New York, 1987. Walcoff, Larry (producer).
- [6] International MIDI Association. MIDI Musical Instrument Digital Interface Specification 1.0. Los Angeles, 1983.
- [7] Norman I. Badler, Ramamani Bindiganavale, John P. Granieri, Susanna Wei, and Xinmin Zhao. Posture interpolation with collision avoidance. In *Computer Animation* '94, pages 13-20, September 1994.
- [8] Harry R. Bartlett. Guide to Teaching Percussion. Wm. C. Brown Company Publishers, Dubuque, Iowa, 1978.
- [9] Joseph Bates. The role of emotion in believable agents. Communications of the ACM, 37(7):122-125, July 1994.
- [10] Louis Bellson. Louie Bellson: the musical drummer. DCI Music Video, New York, 1984. Siegel, Paul and Wallis, Rob and Wierda, Brian (producers).

- [11] Armin Bruderlin and Tom Calvert. Goal-directed, dynamic animation of human walking. In ACM Computer Graphics, pages 233-242, July 1989.
- [12] Armin Bruderlin and Tom Calvert. Interactive animation of personalized human locomotion. In Proceedings of Graphics Interface '93, pages 17-23, May 1993.
- [13] Armin Bruderlin, Chor Guan Teo, and Tom Calvert. Procedural movement for articulated figure animation. Computers & Graphics, 18(4):453-461, 1994.
- [14] Armin Bruderlin and Lance Williams. Motion Signal Processing. In SIGGRAPH '95 Conference Proceedings, Annual Conference Series, pages 97-104. ACM SIGGRAPH, Addison Wesley, 1995.
- [15] Malcolm Budd. Music and the expression of emotion. Journal of Aesthetic Education, 23(3):19-29, Fall 1989.
- [16] Tom Calvert, Armin Bruderlin, John Dill, Thecla Schiphorst, and Chris Welman. Desktop animation of multiple human figures. *IEEE Computer Graphics & Applications*, 13(3):18-26, 1993.
- [17] Eric F. Clarke. Generative Principles in Music Performance, pages 1-26. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1988. ed. John A. Sloboda.
- [18] David Cope. Recombinant music. Computer, 24(7):22-28, July 1991.
- [19] J. Davidson. The Perception of Expressive Movement in Musical Performance. PhD thesis, City University, London, 1991.
- [20] Jack DeJonette and Harvey Sorgen. Jack DeJonette: musical expression on the drum set. Homespun Video, Woodstock, NY, 1992.
- [21] Peter Erskine, John Abercrombie, and Marc Johnson. Peter Erskine: everything is timekeeping. DCI Music Video Productions, New York, 1989.
- [22] Tim Forcade. Evaluating 3D on the high end. Computer Graphics World, pages 57-70, November 1993.
- [23] Steve Gadd. Steve Gadd in session. DCI Music Video Productions, New York, 1985. Siegel, Paul and Wallis, Rob (producers).

- [24] Michael Girard. Constrained optimization of articulated animal movement in computer animation. In Norman I. Badler, Brian A. Barsky, and David Zeltzer, editors, Making Them Move: Mechanics, Control, and Animation of Articulated Figures, chapter 10, pages 209-232. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Inc., 1991.
- [25] Michael Girard and A.A. Maciejewski. Computational modeling for the computer animation of legged figures. In ACM Computer Graphics, pages 263-270, 1985.
- [26] Alan Goldman. Emotions in music (a postscript). The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism, 53(1):59-69, Winter 1995.
- [27] Mark Green. Using dynamics in computer animation: Control and solution issues. In Norman I. Badler, Brian A. Barsky, and David Zeltzer, editors, *Making Them Move: Mechanics, Control, and Animation of Articulated Figures*, chapter 14, pages 281-314. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Inc., 1991.
- [28] Jessica K. Hodgins, Paula K. Sweeney, and David G. Lawrence. Genereating naturallooking motion for computer animation. In *Proceedings of Graphics Interface '92*, pages 265-272, 1992.
- [29] Jos Kessels. Is music a language of the emotions? on the analysis of musical meaning. The Music Review, 47(3):200-216, 1986.
- [30] Doris H. U. Kochanek. Interpolating splines with local tension, continuity, and bias control. In Computer Graphics (SIGGRAPH '84 Proceedings), volume 18, pages 33-41, 1984.
- [31] Martin Lamb. New techniques for teaching musical instrument performance. In Proceedings of Graphics Interface '82, pages 103-106, 1982.
- [32] John Lasseter. Principles of traditional animation applied to 3D computer animation. In ACM Computer Graphics, pages 35-44, 1987.
- [33] Kit Laybourne. The Animation Book. Crown Publishers, Inc., 1979.
- [34] Wayne Lytle. Computer Music Drives Graphics Orchestra. Computer, 24(7):4, July 1991.

[35] George Maestri. 3D animation on the mac. Computer Graphics World, pages 44-50, July 1995.

- [36] George Maestri. Capturing motion. Computer Graphics World, pages 47-53, December 1995.
- [37] Nadia Magnenat Thalmann and Daniel Thalmann. Synthetic Actors in Computer-Generated 3D Films. Springer-Verlag, 1990.
- [38] William F. Miller. The Benefits of Left-Hand Ride, page 20. Modern Drummer Publications, Inc., 1992.
- [39] J.B. Mitroo, Nancy Herman, and Norman I. Badler. Movies from music: Visualizing musical compositions. In ACM Computer Graphics, volume 13, pages 218-225, August 1979.
- [40] Claudia L. Morawetz and Thomas W. Calvert. Goal-directed human animation of multiple movements. In Proceedings of Graphics Interface '90, pages 60-67, 1990.
- [41] J. Morehen. Aiding authentic performance: A fingering databank for Elizabethan keyboard music. Computing in Musicology: An Interrelated Directory of Applications, 9:81-92, 1993.
- [42] Steven R. Newcomb. Standard music description language complies with hypermedia standard. *Computer*, 24(7):76-79, July 1991.
- [43] Ken Perlin. Real time responsive animation with personality. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 1(1):5-15, March 1995.
- [44] Gary Pfitzer. Music & motion. Computer Graphics World, pages 69-74, July 1991.
- [45] Jenefer Robinson. The expression and arousal of emotion in music. The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism, 52(1):13-22, Winter 1994.
- [46] Francis Rumsey. MIDI Systems and Control. Focal Press, Oxford, 1994.
- [47] Bob Sabiston. Beat dedication. In SIGGRAPH '88 Film & Video Show. ACM SIG-GRAPH, 1988.
- [48] Steve Smith. Steve Smith: Part one. DCI Music Video, New York, 1988.

- [49] Steve Smith. Steve Smith: Part two. DCI Music Video, New York, 1988.
- [50] Francis Sparshott. Music and feeling. The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism, 52(1):23-35, Winter 1994.
- [51] Edmund Leonard Thigpen. Ed Thigpen on jazz drumming. DCI Music Productions, New York, 1983. Wallis, Rob and Siegel, Paul (producers).
- [52] Neil P. McAngus Todd. The communication of self-motion in musical expression. In Proceedings of the International Workshop on Man-Machine Interaction in Live Performance, pages 151-162, June 1991.
- [53] Neil P. McAngus Todd. The dynamics of dynamics: A model of musical expression. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 91(6):3540-3550, June 1992.
- [54] Munetoshi Unuma, Ken Anjyo, and Takeuchi Ryozo. Fourier principles for emotionbased human figure animation. In Robert Cook, editor, SIGGRAPH '95 Conference Proceedings, Annual Conference Series, pages 91-96. ACM SIGGRAPH, Addison Wesley, 1995.
- [55] Roel Vertegaal and Tamas Ungvary. The sentograph: Input devices and the communication of bodily expression. In *ICMC Proceedings*, pages 253-256, 1995.
- [56] Dave Weckl. Dave Weckl: The next step. DCI Music Video Productions, New York, 1989. Wallis, Rob and Siegel, Paul (producers).
- [57] Josie Wernecke. The Inventor Mentor. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1986.
- [58] Jane Wilhelms. Using dynamic analysis for realistic animation of articulated bodies. IEEE Computer Graphics & Applications, 7(6):12-27, June 1987.
- [59] Jane Wilhelms. Dynamic experiences. In Norman I. Badler, Brian A. Barsky, and David Zeltzer, editors, Making Them Move: Mechanics, Control, and Animation of Articulated Figures, chapter 13, pages 265-279. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Inc., 1991.
- [60] Todd Winkler. Making motion musical: Gesture mapping strategies for interactive computer music. In *ICMC Proceedings*, pages 261-264, 1995.

- [61] Andrew Witkin and Michael Kass. Spacetime constraints. In ACM Computer Graphics, pages 159-168, 1988.
- [62] Adam Wood-Gaines. Play it again, SPAM! Course Project Report for Visualization CMPT 882 95-3, 1995. Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada.

[63] Geary Yelton. Music and the Macintosh. MIDI America, Inc., Atlanta, Georgia, 1989.